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The Construction Industry Training 
Board (CITB) is a body corporate 
established at the request of the SA 
Building and Construction Industry, 
through enactment of the Construction 
Industry Training Fund (CITF) Act 
(1993) by the South Australian 
Parliament, and came into existence 
on 1 September of that year. 

The CITB is not part of the Crown, nor 
is it an agency or instrumentality of the 
Crown. Members of staff are not public 
servants and are contracted under 
independent arrangements.

The cover page of the Act explains  
its purpose as:

 

An Act to establish a fund to 
be used to improve the quality 
of training in the building and 
construction industry; to establish 
the construction industry training 
Board to administer the fund and 
coordinate appropriate training; 
to provide for the imposition and 
collection of a levy for the purposes 
of the fund, and other purposes.

The CITB was created as an industry 
owned and led entity in line with similar 
arrangements in the other smaller 
states of Australia. The training funds 
address the unique needs of the 
industry arising from its cyclic nature, 
project-based operations and the sub-
contracting of skilled labour. 

The bulk of the skilled trades workforce 
is employed and trained by companies 
in the lower portion of the contracting 
hierarchy – often self-employed 
tradespeople or small businesses 
employing just a few people. While it 
makes for keen competition on price 
it poses a unique set of challenges in 
re-generation of the skilled workforce 
to meet future needs, particularly when 
times are tough.

For 20 years of its existence the CITB 
has progressively refined its strategic 
intent, summed up by the by-line  
“Building Skills – Future Workforce”.

our purpose

Vision
The South Australian building  
and construction industry is 
characterised by:

•	 A training culture across all  
sectors of the industry

•	 A highly skilled workforce

•	 High standards of health and safety.

Mission
To support the South Australian 
building and construction industry  
by providing leadership in training  
and skills development for its 
workforce.

Values
•	 Integrity

•	 Leadership and innovation

•	 Teamwork

•	 Open communication

•	 Customer satisfaction

•	 Quality of service.
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The Construction Industry 
Training Board (CITB) was 
established at the request of the 
SA construction industry in 1993, 
in collaboration with the State 
Government. CITB was created 
as an industry owned, led and 
managed organisation, funded 
by a levy on construction activity. 
CITB is not a government 
agency, although it operates 
under the Construction Industry 
Training Fund Act (1993).

Functions

To act as a principal adviser to the relevant 
State and Federal Ministers on any matter 
relating to training in the building and 
construction industry.

To generally coordinate training and  
personnel development within the building  
and construction industry.

To review and evaluate employment related 
training programs to ensure that they meet 
training and skill requirements of the industry.

 To initiate, carry out, support or promote 
research into the training and personnel needs 
of the building and construction industry.

To administer the Construction Industry  
Training Fund (the Fund).

 To promote increased productivity, career 
opportunities, personal satisfaction and  
OH&S within the industry through training.  

To liaise with educational, professional and 
training bodies (in either the public or private 
sectors) in relation to training and personnel 
development within the building  
and construction industry.

To prepare training plans in accordance  
with the Act.

 To ensure a more equitable distribution of  
effort amongst employers in relation to 
employment-related training in the building  
and construction industry.

To promote, undertake, or support programs 
designed to facilitate the international exchange 
of information relevant to training  
or personnel development within the building 
and construction industry.

The Act specifies CITB’s functions which include:
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Key factors in the delivery of the 2012-13 Annual Training Plan were:

Apprentice activity has been in line with budget but the overall picture is of a 
decline in numbers as the contraction persists.

While apprentice numbers in training are trending down, uptake of CITB 
support has increased as a proportion of the total number in training, as 
businesses become more cost-sensitive in the tightening market.  This has 
kept CITB resource allocations up, but it is a situation that cannot persist 
much beyond the 2013/14 ATP year as commencements are expected to 
decline further until market conditions change.

Training has declined to a greater extent than anticipated principally in 
continuation training delivered under the Current Worker program.  The 
reasons for this are addressed elsewhere in the report.

CITB’s doorways2construction program continues to generate strong 
interest, but career transition opportunities will pose problems for 
graduands looking to pursue a career in the industry.

CITB was awarded a Certificate of Recognition Award in the group category 
at the 2013 Heritage Heroes Awards for its work on various Heritage Trades 
projects. 

CITB’s introductory Building Information Modelling (BIM) course was 
adapted for on-site delivery at the new Royal Adelaide Hospital site.  

The Aboriginal Workforce Development Initiative has developed a course 
that can be used in remote communities, orientated to the building 
materials and structures most commonly used in such locations.  We are 
awaiting accreditation.

2012-13 Highlights
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  Heritage trades participant 
learning building conservation 
techniques in regional SA.

  Salisbury High School d2c 
students in front of the 2012 
Housing SA retrofit, they 
completed with teacher 
richard Megaw and Housing 
SA contractors

  concreting Apprentice and his supervisor 
Shane Agelis, Md of theo Agelis constructions 
learning skills from the ground up
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Much is made in the Press of late of 
the need for construction to “step up” 
and fill the void created by the waning 
resources “boom”. The reality is that 
construction is an enabler of economic 
growth, not a driver. It requires capital 
investment for activity to take place.

The industry contraction continues 
Australia-wide. Hopes are pinned on 
a recovery of the Housing market, but 
each State is on a different point in 
the cycle. SA has exhibited modest 
improvement.

Major infrastructure spending at a State 
level has also provided a welcome 
buffer.

The biggest risk arising from current 
circumstances is the dwindling rate of 
apprentice commencements. The longer 
the industry contraction persists, the 
worse this situation will become. When 
a recovery does come, supply will once 
again lag demand. The key question will 
be how much of a gap will need to be 
made up.

Our medium term view is that in the 
absence of a major trigger, underlying 
levels of activity are likely to settle at 
something approximating the 2007/8 
experience.

Operating Result
CITB’s trading result for the year was 
a modest surplus of $913K, against a 
budget forecast of a $1.95M deficit. 
The main factor was a significant drop 
in Current Worker training activity. Levy 
collections were lower than anticipated, 
by about $456K, but training activity 
particularly in our Current Worker 
program, dropped significantly more.

The ATP Year began with a suspension 
of trading, following advice that the 
(then) Minister had withheld approval 
of the Annual Training Plan. After some 
negotiation, approval was forthcoming 
and trading resumed on 16th July 2012.

The 2012-13 Budget had been framed 
prior to the announcement of the 
suspension of the proposed Olympic 
Dam expansion project. This was 
identified as posing potential revenue 
risk which transpired to the order of 
$625K.

Other factors impacting levy collections 
included the fact that:

•	 An anticipated but subdued rally in the 
housing sector was expected

•	 Large publicly funded commercial and 
civil projects have made a larger than 
‘normal’ contribution to work done but 
leads to concern for what happens 
beyond their target completion dates 
in 2015.

In terms of training support activity, 
outlays were significantly lower than 
anticipated, mainly as a result of 
decreased activity in the Current Worker 
program. The reasons for this are 
several and include reduced demand 
for White Card training, some impact 
of Skills for All funding, and control 
measures on some high cost programs 
that were being used for purposes 
outside the construction industry.

Our Apprentice Training Support 
program returned a close to budget 
result. While overall apprentice numbers 
are in decline because of the industry 
contraction, the proportion seeking and 
accessing CITB support has increased 
despite the longer term trend of an 
overall decline in apprentice numbers.

Administrative overheads have been 
maintained well within the target range.

The Industry Training Profile
Both the workforce and the level of 
training activity, on a pro-rata basis, have 
contracted since the highs of 2010-11.

•	 The broader issue appears to be one 
of reduced confidence, continuity and 
cash.

•	 The workforce has contracted in size 
as measured by the active “Eligible 
worker” registrations recorded on the 
CITB Training and Levy Administration 
System.

   

ceo’s report 

the industry contraction that  
began in 2011 has presented  
on a national front. 
Steve Larkins 
Chief Executive Officer, CITB
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•	 Apprentice commencements are 
exhibiting a sharp decline as a result 
of reduced business confidence.

•	 Group Schemes have contracted in 
size as their market becomes more 
cost-sensitive.

•	 Innovation remains a priority to ensure 
our future workforce is competitive.

•	 Building Information Modelling or 
‘BIM’ has been a particular CITB 
focus for the past three years. 
It is still largely operating in the 
“innovation” space because of 
limited delivery options. CITB is 
working to broaden the range 
of available delivery options. 
In particular we have worked 
extensively to support on site 
delivery of customised BIM training 
developed in-house by CITB using 
contracted trainers, on the Hansen 
Yunken / Leighton Contractors 
Joint Venture new Royal Adelaide 
Hospital site, an exemplar BIM-
driven project.

•	 Doorways2Construction (D2C) 
remains ‘in demand’. Securing work 
placements has become much 
harder and career opportunities will 
be that much more difficult because 
of the state of the industry, but 
interest from young people remains 
very high.

•	 CITB remains engaged in a broad 
range of policy development 
processes and in a national network 
of Construction Industry Training 
Funds.

Forward View
•	 The greatest forward risk is a 

continuation of the contraction.

•	 This has contributed directly to 
the markedly reduced number of 
commencements, across all trades. 
This will create a problem in the future 
if it continues.

•	 Compounding this uncertainty is an 
increasing pace of change in the 
administration of apprentice and 
training policy at a national and state 
level.

•	 Policies don’t create apprenticeships, 
but they can impede them.

•	 Employers create apprenticeships. 
On-job training is the most 
highly regarded component of 
a tradesperson’s repertoire. The 
role of employers in creating these 
opportunities is critical.

•	 As long as economic and policy 
uncertainty persist, the less inclined 
employers will be to commit to the 
demands of employing and training 
apprentices.

Key influences are expected to be:

   The advent / timing of any 
recovery of industry fortunes.

   Policy decisions that impact the  
cost of employment and training  
of apprentices.

   The reset of the Vocational  
Education and Training system 
to the Australian Vocational 
Qualification System (AVQS) 
potentially poses risks for 
small Registered Training 
Organisations and the provision 
of niche / specialised low  
volume training.

   National Occupational Licencing 
System and the extent to which 
it meets industry and consumer 
protection needs.
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Chart A maps levy collections against 
construction work done in South 
Australia over the life of the CITB.

The levy is generally a forward 
indicator of activity since it is paid in 
advance of work being done. Levy 
payments generally occur before the 
commencement of construction as a 
pre-condition of building approval. The 
notable exception was 2009-10 with the 
Commonwealth stimulus program when 
the projects were rolled out very quickly.

In the case of most major projects the 
levy is paid on an instalment basis over 
the life of the project. 

Where the grey bar (training) near / 
equals or exceeds the blue bar (levy 
collection), an operating loss is signified 
(1996-07, 2008-09, 2010-11, 2011-12). 
These losses can only be funded from 
previously accumulated reserves. The 
graph does not include overheads and 
program delivery costs.

The 2010-11 levy collection figure was 
materially affected by a $1.5M refund. 

There is an obvious divergence 
between the level of work done (the line 
graph) and CITF levy collections and 
training activity (the blue and grey bars 
respectively).

 

This is due to a lag effect caused by the 
fact that the levy payments for a series 
of major projects were received in full 
and in advance of work commencing, 
1-2 years ago.  The notable exception  
is the new Royal Adelaide Hospital, 
where levy payments are being made  
in instalments.

So while activity appears strong it is 
concentrated in the top end of the  
Civil and Commercial sectors on a very 
few sites.   

The most significant factor in the 
reduction in training expenditure has 
been a sharp reduction in demand for 
up-skilling and cross-skilling training. 

cHArt A: SA CONSTRuCTION INDuSTRY OuTPuT, LEVIES COLLECTED AND TRAINING ACTIVITY 1994-2013 (2013-14 BuDGET)
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Chart A1:  
Employment Profiles
This chart illustrates the employer 
profile of the industry in respect of 
employment of apprentices. 

Overwhelmingly, apprentices are 
trained on the job by very small 
enterprises.  This same demographic 
forms a large proportion of the client 
base of Group Training companies.

The critical vulnerability of the 
industry is the reliance on these 
small enterprises to hire and train our 
‘Future Workforce’, yet it is they who 
are most exposed during the course 
of an industry downturn such as we 
are experiencing at the moment. 

Employment and training (of 
apprentices) are inextricably linked.  
Employment in the construction 
industry correlates with industry 
activity and confidence.

25 000

20 000

15 000

10 000

5000

0

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

 Non employing     1-4 employees     5-19 employees     20-199 employees     200+ employees

cHArt A1: APPRENTICE EMPLOYMENT IN THE 
CONSTRuCTION INDuSTRY BY EMPLOYER SIzE

5-10 Apprentices 
(x59), 363 

1-4 Apprentices 
(x 1506), 2020 

GTO 
(x 11), 1539 

11-20 Apprentices 
(x 16), 223 

21-30 Apprentices 
(x 2), 51 

31-50 Apprentices 
(x 0), 0 

TALAS June 2013 – n = 4,196 apprentices  
and 1594 employers

cHArt A1: SOuTH AuSTRALIAN BuSINESS COuNTS

South Australians Business Counts 2012 ABS data

200+  
employees 
0.1%

Non  
employing 
66.8%

1-4  
employees 
22.3%

5-19  
employees 
8.6%

20-199  
employees 
2.2%

cHArt A1: SOuTH AuSTRALIAN BuSINESS SIzES 2012

This illustrates the proliferation of self employed sub- 
contractors in the SA Building and Construction Industry.

(Registered Companies operating in the SA Construction  
Industry 2012 (n = 21,808) source ABS data)

  the new royal Adelaide Hospital 
site – one of the largest in Australia
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The Board consists of 11 members 
appointed by the Governor in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Act as follows: 

•	 An independent Presiding Member 
nominated by the Minister after 
consultation with Industry. 

•	 Two Members and Deputies, with 
experience and expertise in the VET 
Sector nominated by the Minister.

•	 Five Members and Deputies 
nominated by employer associations 
named in Schedule 2 of the Act.

•	 Three Members and Deputies 
nominated by employee associations 
named in Schedule 3 of the Act.

The directors of the Board as at  
30 June 2013 were:

Mary Marsland pSM, BArch, lFAiA - 
Independent Presiding Member.

Members and their deputies 
representing the interests of employers 
in the building and construction industry:

Susan Frazer 
Nominee of Plumbing Industry 
Association of SA Inc (PIA).

deputy: Julie nemeth 
Director, Nemeth Plumbing Group.

Steven Hall MipA, MAie, Jp  
Nominee of Building Industry Specialist 
Contractors Association (BISCA). 
Director, Industrial Plumbing Services 
Pty Ltd.

deputy: paul Worthington 
Marketing & Member Services Manager, 
Plumbing Industry Association of SA Inc 
(PIA).

Sandra Jaffer  
Nominee of the Housing Industry 
Association – SA & NT Division (HIA). 
National Administration Manager – 
Apprentices, HIA.

deputy: taryn Alderdice  
Operations Co-ordinator, Devine Ltd.

John laird 
(succeeding Nathan Paine) Nominee 
of the Property Council of Australia (SA 
Division).

deputy: lisa Smith  
(succeeding Sian Rees) – Director for 
Indirect Tax, KPMG.

robert Stewart  MniA, MAicd  
Nominee of Master Builders Association, 
SA Inc (MBA-SA) – Chief Executive 
Officer.

deputy: Susan pavan  
Adelaide Aqua Pty Ltd, Human 
Resources.

Members and their deputies 
representing the interests of employees 
in the building and construction industry:

douglas Buchanan  
Nominee of Electrical, Energy and 
Services Division – SA Branch, State 
Organiser CEPu.

deputy: robert donnelly 
Electrical, Energy and Services Division – 
SA Branch, Secretary CEPu.

gary Henderson 
Nominee of Australian Workers union 
(AWu) - South Australian Branch 
Organiser.

deputy: kristen rogers llB/lp BBSc  
Australian Workers union (AWu) – 
Industrial Officer.

Martin o’Malley 
Nominee of Construction, Forestry, 
Mining and Energy union (CFMEu) – 
Secretary.

deputy: christine chevalier 
Construction Industry Training Centre 
(CITC), General Manager.

Members nominated by the Minister:

christine Harrison  
Department of Further Education, 
Employment, Science and Technology 
(DFEEST)  Director Skills SA.

deputy: Marcus d’Assumpcao 
Department of Further Education, 
Employment, Science and Technology 
(DFEEST). Manager, Research, Analysis 
and Pricing unit, Strategic Policy, 
Resources and Finance Directorate.

dr romana Hutchinson Med phd  
Executive Director, Transport & 
Distribution Training SA,  (succeeding 
Lorraine Baff). 

deputy: rosemary Markotic 
Department of Planning, Transport 
& Infrastructure, Director Human 
Resources, Corporate Services Division, 
(succeeding Romana Hutchinson).

directors
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   d2c students on-site observing 
commercial building

  the citB Board at the site of the Whyalla hospital expansion.  
the Board holds annual regional board meetings to familiarise 
members with issues specific to the region, and acquaint local people 
who have an interest in the construction industry with the citB.
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Strategic Intent
As a result of the continuing contraction 
in construction activity and dialogue 
with the Minister’s Office it was decided 
to undertake a review of the strategic 
framework and the performance 
Benchmarks set in 2006 and revised 
in 2007. New benchmarks are to be 
established based on the results of the 
2012-13 Training Year for subsequent 
reporting purposes, to be imposed on 
the 2013-14 Annual Training Plan.

The Board’s principal strategic focus 
is ‘Building Skills’ and our ‘Future 
Workforce’. To address this, a multi-
layered approach is directed at the three 
principal elements of the CITB vision 
statement:

•	 promotion of training culture across 
the industry,

•	 a highly skilled workforce, and 

•	 high standards of health and safety.

The Board resolved that the 
current program structure 
remains the most appropriate 
in order to meet our Statutory 
obligations 
CITB’s extant Strategic Planning 
Framework entails the following.

Support and Promote Career 
Opportunities
The future of the industry depends on its 
ability to attract, train and retain people 
of all ages with the skills demanded by 
the industry.

D2C remains our key mechanism to 
engage with school age youth. 

Trade Apprenticeships are key to 
underpinning future skilled workforce 
capability. There is a heavy reliance 
on small sub-contractors to shoulder 
the bulk of the burden of apprentice 

training. Both the employers and 
apprentices are ‘cost sensitive’ 
particularly in a contraction phase,  
and need to be supported.

The Construction Worker (to be 
renamed from ‘Current Worker’) 
program provides opportunities 
to enhance and extend career 
opportunity and duration through  
up-skilling and cross-skilling training.

It is expected that the introduction of 
Field Officers to the CITB team will 
enable more direct communication of 
opportunity and support.

Enhance Workforce Productivity
WHS metrics are a key measure 
and there is widespread agreement 
that improvements in industry WHS 
standards and associated training can 
be correlated with better WHS metrics 
at all levels.

It is imperative that all elements of the 
industry in SA have the knowledge and 
skills to apply current and emerging 
technology to ensure they remain at the 
forefront of industry practice in Australia. 

Other measures of productivity need to 
be explored and incorporated in order to 
inform the most effective application of 
CITB resources.

Information Exploitation
CITB has invested in information 
technology as a key enabler of its 
governance processes to ensure that 
both the source (project data) and 
destination (training data) of its funding 
can be accurately tracked. In the case of 
training funding it can be resolved down 
to individual trainee level.

Concurrently this data provides us with a 
training history for each ‘Eligible Worker’, 
which over time has accumulated 
to provide us with more tangible 
knowledge of the skills base of the 
SA building and construction industry 
workforce than any other jurisdiction in 
the country. 

Review and Evaluation of CITB 
Activities
The data CITB collects informs external 
third party validation, strengthening the 
formal review and evaluation processes.

Audit and review of training claims is an 
on-going element of oversight to ensure 
value for money in meeting industry skills 
development objectives.

Income Diversification
A range of non-levy activity generates 
revenue by providing a range of 
products and services to customers 
around Australia. However, it is not 
of a scale that can offset declining 
levy collections of the extent we have 
experienced recently.

Along with most State based agencies 
around the country, our efforts to 
source Commonwealth funding have 
had little success thus far, which is 
disappointing given our knowledge of 
and engagement with the workforce in 
SA. As centralisation continues apace 
so does a tendency of the bureaucracy 
to generate “one size fits all” measures 
from Canberra that are not in the best 
interest of local industry.

Staff, Systems and Policies
CITB’s operations are interlinked with 
and underpinned by its management, 
administration and support systems. 
These represent a significant investment 
and are subject to on-going review and 
refinement.

The major change to CITB staffing has 
been Board approval of the appointment 
of three Field Officers on a 12 month trial 
basis.

Legislative Framework
The Board has successfully preserved 
the autonomy and independence 
enshrined in the CITF Act in the interests 
of the industry as a whole.

citB Strategic Framework

Strategic Planning  
December 2012
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Forecasting Skills Need / Demand
This remains a key challenge, and not 
just for the CITB. 

The VET environment is beset by 
change, the compound effect of which 
is hard to estimate.

CITB’s aim is to endeavour to rely more 
on our own internal data in order to 
refine our forecasting methodology and 
to concentrate on improving that part of 
the industry that our programs touch, 
rather than trying to extrapolate results 
across the industry.

Rely less on surveys and more on 
objective ‘hard’ data.

Workforce Participation Policy
CITB collaborated with the Department 
of Planning Transport and Infrastructure 
to develop an improved reporting tool 
enabling contractors and sub-contractors 
to report easily and accurately against 
targets established on publicly funded 
projects covered by this policy.

VET Capacity
With a decline in apprentice numbers 
now likely to become more manifest, 
this pressure point has been eased in its 
impact in the immediate term.

The effect of the relocation of a 
significant amount of trade training 
capacity within TAFE to the Lonsdale 
precinct has yet to be assessed.

The impact of regulatory change on 
the VET provider market is a potential 
concern.

Stakeholder Communication 
Policy
CITB uses a comprehensive suite 
of media to communicate with 
stakeholders:

•	 an inquiry call centre, 

•	 print and radio advertising, 

•	 a popular Facebook page

•	 extensive email and SMS messaging 
and hard copy publications.

•	 A major re-structure of the website is 
to take place in the latter part of 2013.

•	 Three Field Officers are to be 
appointed on a 12 month trial basis  
in the latter half of 2013.

•	 A series of promotions are to 
be undertaken to mark the 20th 
Anniversary of the CITB in the latter 
part of 2013.

Emerging Technologies and 
Training Needs
CITB is continuing its promotion of  
three key streams in this space;

•	 Building Information Modelling

•	 Heritage Trades

•	 Aboriginal Workforce Initiative

The SAHMRI Building 
– one of the first large 
scale applications of BIM 
technology in Adelaide.
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Chart B1
Chart B illustrates the volumes of 
projects for which levies have been 
collected over time.

The sharp contraction appears 
to have stabilised in the last 12 
months, at historic lows. Most of this 
contraction has been in the housing 
sector. The Civil and Commercial 
sectors have been underpinned by 
public infrastructure investment.

Chart B2
This graph displays the composition 
of levy collection by project value. 
Projects over $10M have trended 
upwards in recent years, however in 
2012-13 they have returned to more 
historic proportions. 

cHArt B1 PROJECT VOLuMES

cHArt B2 PROPORTION OF LEVY COLLECTED BY PROJECT VALuE
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Chart C and D
These charts illustrate the relative 
value and proportions of each of the 
three industry sectors within the total 
industry mix. Of note is the fluctuating 
proportions in recent years as a 
consequence of stimulus and other 
publicly funded activity.

The 2012-13 figure reflects progress 
payments for the new Royal Adelaide 
Hospital and the Southern Expressway 
duplication. Metropolitan Railway 
upgrade also features in this data.
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The Annual Training Plan (ATP) 
outlines the training support measures 
undertaken by the Board.

The 2012-13 report reflects performance 
against measures established in 2006-
07. The Board has maintained these 
metrics in order to provide a consistent 
assessment baseline over time. The KPI 
are to be reset for 2013-14 and beyond.

In summary:

The Apprentice and Traineeship 
Support (ATS) program 
The ATS program encourages the 
engagement, employment and support 
of apprentices in order to develop 
foundation skills. This program offers 
support for the key elements of 
apprentice training.

•	 Tuition funding support of off-job 
training

•	 On-job training log recording the 
scope of experience gained by the 
apprentice on site

•	 Progressive completion of Training 
Contract 

The Current Worker (CW) 
program
The Current Worker (CW) program 
encourages skill and career 
development, including cross-skilling 
and up-skilling for construction workers. 
The Contingency element provides 
flexibility and capacity to address 
emerging training needs.

The Development and Innovation 
Program (DIP) 
The Development and Innovation 
Program (DIP) provides capacity to 
address specific workforce development 
needs not addressed elsewhere.  
This includes;

•	 VET in School programs: 
Doorways2Construction (D2C) and 
D2C Plus, 

•	 Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Initiative

•	 Heritage Trades and other initiatives

The table below sets out the budget and 
actual expenditure of the ATP by element. 

The industry contraction has put 
pressure on employment across the 
industry. Apprentices are no exception.

A key CITB objective is to ensure 
apprentices in training complete 
their qualification by supporting both 
employers and apprentices. 

The number of commencements is now 
in decline, in line with contracting levels 
of industry activity.

The most significant factor in the 
reporting year was a drop in demand for 
Current Worker training. 

White Card numbers have decreased 
possibly due to Skills for All full-funding 
of the program. 

CITB also placed restrictions on high 
cost transport-related courses which 
require a statement of employer need in 
order to attract funding. 

•	 It is anticipated that there will be 
further reduction in apprentice 
commencements in the 2013-14 year.

•	 The average price per place of CW 
training decreased, reflecting a shift in 
emphasis to shorter duration, safety 
and licencing requirements, and less 
expensive longer duration courses.

Annual training report

2012-13  
Actual

2012-13 
Budget

gross levy revenue 16.33M 16.79M 

AtS – Apprenticeship & traineeship Support 

Tuition funding 1.0M 1.15M 

On-Job funding 3.84M 4.18M 

Completion funding 3.74M 3.89M 

total Apprenticeship & traineeship Support 8.58M 9.22M 

cW – current Worker  

Current Worker Expenditure 4.24M 5.76M 

Contingency 0.07M  .5M 

total current worker 4.31M 6.26M 

 development & innovation initiatives  

Aboriginal Workforce program 0.17M 0.3M 

Development & Innovation programs 0.16M 0.3M 

D2C program 0.29M 0.4M 

total development & innovation initiatives 0.62M 1.0M 

total programs 13.51M 16.48M 

No. of ATS and CW places

Number of Current Worker training places 22,655 30,000

number of apprentices supported 3,912 4,276

Note: totals appear inconsistent due to rounding
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Chart E and F
Chart E and F illustrate the relative 
‘split’ of levy collections and training 
expenditure. The Act requires that 
expenditure is in proportion to levy 
collections, and the Board strives to 
achieve this general intent in the longer 
term. There can be considerable year 
on year variability – the aim is to achieve 
consistency over time in meeting long 
term training needs rather than a more 
reactive response.

A case in point is the predominance of 
major publicly funded project activity in 
the Commercial sector.

cHArt e  2012-13 DIRECT  
TRAINING ExPENDITuRE BY SECTOR 
($12.82M TOTAL)*

cHArt F  2012-13 LEVY  
COLLECTIONS BY SECTOR  
($16.33M TOTAL) 

*D2C and Contingency / Innovation training, 
representing $0.69M is not attributed by sector and 
is not included in this graph (Total: $13.51M)

Heritage Trades Course 
restorations at John Knox 
Church, Morphett Vale

Civil  
20.3%

Housing 
37.6%

Commercial 
42.1%

Civil  
19%

Housing 
38.3%

Commercial 
42.8%
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Program 1 – Current Worker Program 2012-13 Performance

outcomes 2012-13 performance against Benchmark 2006-07 trend 

Objective 1

to facilitate, support and promote a training culture across the industry

•	 A greater uptake of training, measured by training places and value of the training provided.

•	  Since the benchmark was established, training activity peaked at the height of the construction  
boom brought on by stimulus from the Commonwealth and has now contracted again.  
This has caused the Board to review the benchmark parameters for 2013-14 and beyond. 

A greater uptake of training, 
measured by number of training 
places and expenditure

•	 22 655 training places funded, a marginal increase 
(benchmark 22 607).

•	 $4.3M expended (benchmark $3.9M).

Improved levels of awareness of  
the importance of training and the 
means by which it can be accessed

•	 76% of enterprises aware of CITB funding incentives,  
an increase (benchmark 61%).

Balanced regional training  
provision and delivery

•	 25.4% of training places delivered to regional 
participants, a decrease (benchmark 28.2%).  
This is in part has been influenced by a change  
in classification of what were formally “rural”  
locations as “outer metropolitan”. 

current Worker (cW) 
training program

In consultation with its industry advisory 
committees, the Board reviews an 
extensive schedule of training activities 
in the preparation of the ATP. 

CITB support is premised on the concept 
of an Eligible Worker. Registration and 
currency provide access to a discount 
on the retail price of the training on the 
schedule, delivered through a network 
of endorsed Registered Training 
Organisations (RTOs).

The RTOs provide training, assessment 
and other services to the industry, in 
accordance with guidelines formulated 
by the Joint Sector Advisory Committee 
(JSAC) and established by the Training 
Policy Committee (TPC).

Quality Assurance of CITB supported 
funding is effected by reliance on 
endorsed RTO compliant with the 
Australian Quality Training Framework 
(AQTF). 

Training Programs are offered in 4 major 
categories, Safety, Core Construction, 

Construction Management and 
Business Planning. Courses that do  
not fit any of these categories are 
classified in “other” and rated lower in 
industry priority.

The Board also sets support funding at 
a level which requires a co-contribution 
from trainees or their employers. This 
ensures commitment to the training on 
the premise that if someone has had 
to make a direct contribution to the 
cost they are more likely to prioritise 
attendance and completion.

The following objectives and strategies 
were established by the Board and have 
guided the CW program since 2006-07. 
As a consequence of Strategic Planning 
in November 2012 benchmarks are 
to be reviewed and reset and metrics 
based on CITB generated data which 
provides a more direct measure of 
the effect of CITB activity than generic 
survey-based data.

the current Worker program is a key means 
to promote increased productivity, career 
opportunities, personal satisfaction and 
occupational health and safety within the 
building and construction industry through 
training, as prescribed in the Act.

ConstruCtion industry training Board annual rePort 201320



Objective 2

to improve workplace productivity and performance by developing and maintaining  
a highly skilled and accredited workforce

•	 The degree to which participants of CITB funded training have applied the skills they learned  
in their current job is measured annually through a post training survey.

•	 Training is provided to ensure that the workforce maintains a broad skill base which keeps  
pace with changing technologies and industry requirements.  

•	 Since the benchmark year the government’s former, Productivity Places Program (PPP)  
and the implementation of Skills for All has addressed funding support for qualification  
completion through the RCC process. As a result, demand for CITB support has remained  
firm in other areas of training need, if somewhat muted, given the industry contraction.

An increased application of skills learnt •	 45.0% of participants regularly applied skills learnt –  
a marginal increase (benchmark 44%).

The workforce has a broader 
skills-base which keeps pace with 
changing technologies and industry 
requirements

•	 76.0% reported improved knowledge – a marginal 
increase (benchmark 75%).

•	 47% of participants reported learning skills in  
new and emerging technologies – an increase 
(benchmark 37%).

An increase in the proportion of the 
workforce currently an apprentice or 
trainee 

NB: The metrics used for this 
benchmark have been compromised 
by what we believe to be an 
anomalous ABS workforce data set. 

Issues such as these have caused 
CITB to review and reset the metrics 
based on our own data generated 
through our Training and Levy 
Administration System (TALAS).

•	 According to the ABS there were 72 300 workers in 
the SA Construction Industry as at May 2013 and 
trending upwards.

•	 This data varies significantly from that obtained from 
CITB and related sources, which indicate a decline in 
active eligible worker registrations in line with a general 
decline in industry activity. 

•	 ABS workforce numbers are of a similar magnitude 
to the workforce at the peak of the boom in 2010-11. 
This is completely incongruous with the nationwide 
contraction in construction activity.

•	 Apprentice data is more consistent with observed trends. 
Apprentice numbers peaked during the period 2010-12. 
They have since declined again and currently stand at  
5 492 apprentices and trainees in training compared to 
5 219 when the benchmark was established.

An increase in the number of 
recognised current competencies 
(RCCs) funded

•	 23% a decrease (benchmark 33%). This variation 
reflects the impact of external policy and funding 
changes. 
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Objective 3

to ensure a more equitable distribution of effort amongst enterprises in relation to  
employment-related training in the industry

•	 The number of enterprises registered with CITB continues to demonstrate strong growth. This can 
be attributed to the increased engagement of industry, and is testament to efforts to increase industry 
awareness of CITB and its role in training support. It may also be due in part to tightening economic 
conditions and increased cost-sensitivity.

•	 There has been an increase in the uptake of CITB support by enterprises directly indenturing apprentices. 

Increase in number of enterprises 
accessing CITB funds

•	 4 990 enterprises registered with CITB – an increase 
(benchmark 2 370)

Objective 4

to enhance career opportunities and broaden workforce employability through training

•	 A key function of training is to better shape the skills of the workforce to meet industry requirements, and to 
facilitate the development and adoption of a training culture and of safe work practices across the industry 

•	 Whether the re-distribution of ‘reason for training’ is due to issues such as greater demand for regulatory  
or compliance related training, cannot be resolved from the data.

•	 With the industry in contraction there is anticipated to be a “knock-on” effect in overall levels of training activity.

The skills of the workforce meet 
industry requirements.

•	 86% rated the training as worthwhile or very 
worthwhile – a marginal decrease (benchmark 87%)

•	 68% reported training for new skills a decrease 
(benchmark 75%) 

•	 44.0% for up-skilling – an increase (benchmark 41%) 
and 

•	 24.0% for cross-skilling – a decrease (benchmark 34%)

The level of training activity is 
balanced against present and 
projected economic trends.

This metric has previously relied on a 
measure of total workforce in order 
to derive a “training rate”. As detailed 
above, we believe the ABS data is 
anomalous which compromises the 
generation of a meaningful measure

•	 14 937 individuals undertook training in 2012-13  
compared to 18 432 the previous year, and 
benchmark figures of 14 729 persons.  

Objective 5

to facilitate the development and adoption of safe work practices across the industry

•	 To create a safer working environment and demonstrate a commitment in the area of safer work practices,

•	 Training in the course category of Safety continues to be the largest continent of training places. With the 
declaration of the Work Health and Safety Act 2012 (on 1st January 2013) we expect this trend to continue.

A demonstrated commitment to 
training in the area of safer work 
practices

•	 50.6% of training places (benchmark 47.4%) and 29.0% 
transaction value (benchmark 19.8%) were within the 
OH&S category. Both are increases against benchmark.

A safer working environment  
through training

•	 69.0% of workers report safer work practices as a 
result of CW training – a decrease (benchmark 76.0%).

•	 The background level of safety and compliance has 
been raised by range of regulation and best practice 
measures which are now “industry standard”, and 
incorporated across a broad range of training activity.

 

current Worker (cW) training program
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Contingency Program

outcomes 2012-13 performance against Benchmark 2006-07 trend 

Objective 

to address training needs in skill shortage areas that are not otherwise covered by  
the cW or AtS programs

•	 This is addressed through the Contingency Funding provision. This provides the capacity to  
address the emergence of short term urgent training needs based on industry demand that  
cannot be met through the major CITB funding programs.

Build capacity in skill shortage areas 
with employment outcomes and 
attract more people to the South 
Australian construction industry

•	 806 training places funded to the value of $56 478 – 
an increase in training places against benchmark  
(96 training places and a decrease in funded value 
from $530 200). 

•	 This reflects a changed policy environment and external 
factors which have compromised the benchmark.

Innovation Program

outcomes 2012-13 performance against Benchmark trend 

Objective 

to develop new training programs and/or innovative delivery of training in skills  
shortage areas

•	 The major focus of the Development and Innovation Program is engagement of industry participants 
by applying different approaches and/or methods to training, outside the CW or ATS programs.

•	 Two of the three main areas of focus represent the opposite ends of industry practice over  
time; Heritage Trades and Building Information Modelling (BIM), neither of which are  
adequately addressed by training package provision despite the CITB’s best endeavours. 

•	 Aboriginal Workforce Development Initiative (AWDI) is aimed at increasing participation rates  
of indigenous persons in the SA building and construction industry.

•	 BIM is rapidly emerging as a key enabler of the SA Building and Construction industry’s  
future success. It has the potential to redefine the industry and its work practices.

•	 First stage Heritage Trades and BIM courses are in the mainstream Current Worker Program

Build capacity in skill shortage 
areas with employment outcomes 
and attract more people to the SA 
construction industry

•	 42 participants in Heritage Trade skills program  
which is an increase on benchmark in 2008-09  
which was 10.

Increase indigenous participation in 
the SA Building and Construction 
workforce.

The benchmark for this objective  
was only established in 2009-10.

•	 604 Indigenous CITB card holders 12.5% increase:

•	 64 apprentices (14.6% decrease)

•	 439 current workers (5.8% increase)

•	 2009-10 benchmark figures which were 537, 75  
and 415 respectively.

To introduce the SA Building and 
Construction Workforce to principles 
and techniques of Building Information 
Modelling in order to increase 
competitiveness and capability.

•	 42 participants took part in BIM training which is a 
decrease on last year (the first benchmark of 58). 

This apparent decrease is offset by the fact that 38 
participants were trained under the current worker 
program in this discipline.
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Chart G and H 

Chart G displays where training effort 
is deployed, displaying numbers of 
places by course type. It is a measure 
of volume of trainees. So, more people 
do OH&S related training than any other 
category.

Training volumes are down on forecast 
and this in part reflects some degree  
of market saturation of White Card.  
The proportion of construction skills 
training has increased relative to OH&S 
training which reflects the reduction in 
White Card activity.

Chart H displays the proportion of 
expenditure by course category. This 
is an aggregation of volume, and the 
rate at which various course types are 
supported by CITB. Construction skills 
training tends to be of longer duration 
and higher dollar value, compared to 
OH&S Training, which means more 
money is spent, in aggregate, on 
construction skills training than on any 
other category.

Chart I
The number of CW training places from 
2002-03 to 2012-13 is displayed in 
Chart I. 

The major influence on training 
volume trends over time was the 
introduction of White Card in 2008-
09. The result reflects the initial surge 
to meet compliance requirements 
with a reversion to “steady state” over 
time. This reduction in the past two 
years or so has been influenced by 
reduced demand for training of all kinds 
in line with the industry / workforce 
contraction.

cHArt g CuRRENT WORKER  
TRAINING PLACES BY COuRSE 
CATEGORY (22,655 PLACES TOTAL)

cHArt i CuRRENT WORKER TRAINING PLACES 2002-03 TO 2012-13
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Chart J
Chart J illustrates training activity by 
region, based on the trainee’s place of 
residence. The data has been collated 
to provide a measure of training 
places delivered to people who live in 
metropolitan and regional locations.  

The chart does not illustrate WHERE 
training is delivered, rather it is based on 
the location of residence of the trainee.

Northern Adelaide (Elizabeth to Gawler 
and beyond) was incorporated in the 
metropolitan area grouping in 2010 
which has significantly altered the  
Metro / Regional mix.

The bulk of training is delivered in the 
metropolitan area, with many regional 
workers having to travel to Adelaide.  

CITB supports regional delivery by a 
number of regional RTOs, as well as 
metropolitan RTOs who export training 
to regional locations.  

CITB supports regional delivery by 
offsetting any additional costs to RTOs 
so the retail price to the trainee is held at 
the same level as metropolitan delivery.

cHArt J TRAINING PLACES BY REGION OF RESIDENCE (22 655 PLACES TOTAL)
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Other 12.7%

Port Pirie 1.5%

Murraylands 1.9%
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Other 0.1%
Kangaroo Island 0.2%
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Barossa Light 2.0%

Eyre Peninsula 2.7%
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Apprentice training  
Support (AtS) 

Entry Level Training

outcomes 2012-13 performance against Benchmark 2006-07 trend 

Objective 1

to encourage prospective new entrants in schools and the community to consider  
careers in the industry

•	 Doorways2Construction (D2C) in the school environment is CITB’s main effort in respect  
of this objective.

•	 Maintenance of a population of appropriately qualified, committed and enthusiastic teachers  
and engagement with endorsed RTO delivering D2C is important to supporting the quality  
of education and training delivered.

An increased awareness and 
acceptance of building industry 
careers amongst school students.

•	 CITB is advised that D2C endorsed schools promote 
building industry careers, this is reflected in the  
increase in D2C enrolments.

An increased interest by schools and 
the community in the D2C program.

•	 The number of D2C students has increased from 420 
in Benchmark year to 1,200. The D2C plus program 
has increased from 75 students in 2011 to 235 
students in 2013.

Maintenance of a population of 
appropriately qualified, committed 
and enthusiastic teachers delivering 
D2C.

•	 The metric on which this benchmark was based is 
redundant because the university has discontinued the 
program that CITB sponsored. The CITB now sponsors 
the direct up skilling of D2C teachers in skills specific to 
their needs on an as required basis.

The Training Policy Committee (TPC) has 
oversight of the implementation of all 
ATS programs on behalf of the Board. 

Policy formation is guided by active 
input from the Entry Level Training 
Reference Committee (ELTRC) in relation 
to apprenticeships and traineeships and 
Doorways2Construction (D2C). The 
ELTRC fosters linkages with training 
providers, schools and industry.

Training takes place under a formal 
arrangement called a Training Contract.  
The parties to this contract are the 
apprentice, the employer and the 

Registered Training Organisation (RTO).   

The RTO is part funded by Government.  
The balance of the cost of this training 
is charged to the apprentice / employer.  
This cost serves as a potential barrier 
and for this reason the CITB off-sets 
a portion of it under its tuition funding 
support mechanism.   

On-Job training forms the balance of 
structured training.  This is provided 
by the employer which underlines 
the importance of an employment 
relationship as the fundamental 
component of apprenticeship training.  

This represents a commitment by the 
employer which has a real cost.  

CITB training support addresses this 
through two distinct mechanisms.   
A progressive completion payment is 
made to support continuing employment 
and progression through the Training 
Contract.  An additional payment is 
made for the maintenance of an on-job 
training log book.

The resilience of the employer – 
apprentice relationship has been tested, 
and continues to be a major concern 
of the CITB, in the current construction 
downturn, highlighted by the significant 
decrease in commencements and 
increase in early sign off of Training 
Contracts.

the AtS program is structured to 
address key factors which impact the 
hiring and training of apprentices. 

ConstruCtion industry training Board annual rePort 201326



Objective 2

to encourage enterprises to take on apprentices and trainees in approved vocations 

•	 There is anecdotal evidence that employers are increasingly identifying D2C as a source of  
potential apprentices.  

•	 Whilst the industry had seen an increase in apprenticeship commencements over the previous 
years, the tightening of construction activity has resulted in a reduction of apprenticeship 
commencements from 2011-12.  

•	 With the appointment of three field officers in late 2013 these measures will be actively  
promoted on construction sites across the State. 

An increase in the proportion of  
D2C participants gaining contracts  
of training.

•	 Our capacity to track and measure this is currently  
the subject of review. 

Apprentice and trainee 
commencements in approved 
vocations are consistent with  
10 year long term trend.

Apprentice/trainee commencements:

•	 Electricians 353 a decrease (benchmark 657) 

•	 Refrigeration/air conditioning mechanics 20 – 
a decrease (benchmark 128) 

•	 Construction trades 781 – a decrease  
(benchmark 1 303) 

The most significant factor is a lack of industry 
confidence to commit to a four year Training Contract 
under current economic circumstances.

Increased awareness of financial and 
tangible  benefits of employing under 
Training Contracts. 

•	 58% of enterprises surveyed were aware of the  
CITB incentives a slight decrease (benchmark 61%).    

•	 CITB will look to monitor this more directly through 
its Field Officer network.

Objective 3

to maximise the proportion of new entrants undertaking approved vocational qualifications

•	 CITB aims to ensure that the numbers of apprentices and trainees in approved construction vocations are 
sufficient to maintain the industry workforce at required levels. 

•	 Tuition funding support has historically been used as a metric for this objective. It became apparent that 
data was being distorted by the number of electricians accessing this funding stream.  This anomaly has 
now been removed with all electrical apprentices listed as “Fee Free” by Skills for All. There has been a 
decrease in the Tuition claims amount since 2011-12 which in part reflects the policy change. 

•	 There has been a decrease in the number of apprentices in training across all construction vocational 
qualifications.  The increase in completions and early sign-offs directly decreases the numbers in training 
but may increase CITB’s financial outlay in the short term.

The levels of apprentices and trainees 
in training in approved vocations are 
sufficient to maintain the industry 
workforce at required levels 

•	 1 975 individuals and enterprises reimbursed for tuition 
fees – an increase (benchmark 1 434)

Apprentices/trainees in training:

•	 Construction trades 3 285 – an increase  
(benchmark 2 729)

•	 Electricians 2 055 – an increase (benchmark 1 619)

•	 Refrigeration/air conditioning mechanics 152 
 – a decrease (benchmark 309)
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•	 Enterprises received financial incentives for 2 497 
apprenticeship completions – an increase  
(benchmark 1 570)

Apprentice/trainee completions:

•	 Construction trades 371 – a decrease (benchmark 637)

•	 Electricians 169 – a decrease (benchmark 282)

•	 Refrigeration/air conditioning mechanics 52 –  
an increase (benchmark 49) 

An increase in the proportion of 
new entrants in approved vocations 
gaining formal recognition of their 
skills.

•	 118 apprentices and trainees gaining early sign-off  
in approved vocations – an increase (benchmark 82)   

Objective 4

to improve the quality of workplace learning and training of apprentices and trainees  
in approved vocations

•	 CITB aims to address this objective by promoting the use of apprentice on-job training log 
books, and by CW funding to support trade licencing training.

•	 The adoption of on-job recognised training evidenced by the number of apprentices maintaining 
on-job log books has increased.  The wider acceptance and adoption of these log books has 
contributed to higher engagement and claim rates resulting in increased funding claimed.

•	 There has been an increase in apprentices and trainees who were in receipt of CW funding for 
training relevant to gaining licences in the last year of their Training Contract, or within 6 months 
of completion.

A wider acceptance and adoption of 
on-job recognised training.

•	 $3.84M spent on on-job log book funding – an 
increase (benchmark $2.1M).

An increase in the number of recently 
completed apprentices in approved 
vocations gaining appropriate 
licenses.

•	 1 502 apprentices accessing current worker  
funding (excluding White Card) in the final year of  
their TC, or within 6 months of completion – an 
increase (benchmark 638).

Objective 5

to raise awareness of safe work practices amongst apprentices and trainees in  
approved vocations

•	 White Card training and other OH&S training is now more evident in formal training plans  
and Training Package requirements.  The number of apprentices taking White Card training  
decreased again.  This is consistent with the reduction in the number of commencements and  
the general trend of White Card training across the industry.  

Participation levels in approved 
OH&S specific training is consistent 
with workforce numbers.

•	 White Card training is now embedded in  
Construction apprenticeship training.

Apprentice training Support (AtS)  
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Chart K
Chart K illustrates the number of 
apprentices supported by CITB. Chart K1 
illustrates the cost of these programs.

Apprentices and their employers underpin 
our future workforce. They are a vital asset 
and our biggest training liability.

In 2005-06 the CITB changed its 
apprentice funding model from one 
which resourced only Group Training 
Companies, to a universal system which 
funds direct indenture employers and 
Group Schemes on an equal footing. 

Increased uptake of CITB support among 
Direct Indenture has been the most 
significant factor in managing the CITB’s 
financial position, exacerbated most 
recently by a declining revenue base.

The 2011-12 and 2012-13 data 
reflected a predictable response to the 

broader industry situation characterised 
by reduced commencements and early 
sign off (Completion) of apprentices. 
As 2012-13 progressed we have now 
entered a new phase. Commencements 
have continued to decline and 
completions have also dropped away. 

This could mean one or two things; 
there may be a measure of unreported 
terminations and / or we may be seeing 
the tail of earlier cohorts that had 
achieved early completion. 

Of greatest concern is the expectation 
that we will see our largest ever cohorts 
(2010-11) moving through to completion 
in the forth coming year but not being 
replaced to any significant degree by 
falling commencements.

CITB support can offset but not overcome 
the costs associated with training an 
apprentice, in the face of declining income.

Chart L
This chart illustrates the relativity between 
the number of people employed in the 
construction industry and the number  
of apprentices in training since 1994.  
Of great concern is the divergence 
evident over the past two years. 

The divergence is a function of two 
elements. The first we believe is an 
anomaly in labour force numbers. 
The top line is ABS data. As indicated 
earlier we don’t believe the trend 
depicted here is actually evident. 

The second is cause for greater 
concern; the sharp decline in 
apprentice commencements as a 
direct consequence of the industry 
contraction. If this trend persists we 
will inevitably confront a skills shortage 
when the cycle next trends up. 

Source: NCVER (ANzSCO construction codes  
as defined by CITB) SA. ABS Labour Force 
Construction Industry SA 6291.0.55.003 

cHArt k CITB-FuNDED APPRENTICE PLACES

 GTO places (as per on job claims)  

 Direct places (all funding)  

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

 - 0
7

20
07

- 0
8

20
08

 - 
09

20
09

 -1
0

20
10

 -1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

6 000

 5 000

4 000

3 000

2 000

1 000

-   

TR
A

IN
IN

G
 P

LA
C

E
S

1254
1440 1522

558

1694

857

1779

1396

1970

2612

1909

2658

1872

3338

2083

2155

1757

2930

1931

cHArt l SA CONSTRuCTION LABOuR FORCE AND APPRENTICES IN-TRAINING

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

-   

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

-   

C
O

N
S

TR
u

C
TI

O
N

 L
A

B
O

u
R

 F
O

R
C

E
 (T

H
O

u
S

A
N

D
S

)

A
P

P
R

E
N

TI
C

E
S

 IN
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
 (T

H
O

u
S

A
N

D
S

)

19
94

-9
5

19
95

-9
6

19
96

-9
7

19
97

-9
8

19
98

-9
9

19
99

-0
0

20
00

-0
1

 2
00

1-
02

20
02

-0
3

20
03

-0
4

20
04

-0
5

20
05

-0
6

20
06

 - 
07

20
07

- 0
8

20
08

 - 
09

20
09

 -1
0

20
10

 -1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

  SA construction labour force 
  Apprentices/Trainees in training 
  Linear (SA construction labour force) 
  Linear (Apprentices/Trainees in training) 

cHArt k1 CITB APPRENTICE FuNDING

20
05

-0
6

20
06

 - 
07

20
07

- 0
8

20
08

 - 
09

20
09

 -1
0

20
10

 -1
1

20
11

-1
2

20
12

-1
3

14.00

12.00

10.00

8.00

6.00

4.00

2.00

-   

$ 
M

IL
LI

O
N

3.84

3.74

1.00

4.24

4.69

1.53

4.67

4.39

2.57

3.44

3.48

2.10

0.17

3.40

3.66

1.88

0.17

2.76

1.07

2.97

0.08

2.12

0.70

2.24

0.10

1.69

0.54

1.42

0.12

 Tuition Funding   

 On-Job Funding)  

 Completion Funding   

  D2C Employer Incentive 
(discontinued in 2010-11)   

29



A leader in VET in Schools
Doorways2Construction (D2C) was 
initiated as a direct response to the need 
to encourage young people to consider 
a career in building and construction, 
improve entry level training opportunities, 
promote career pathways and present 
a positive image of the building and 
construction industry.

The industry vision for D2C is ‘to have a 
sustainable, nationally recognised VET in 
schools initiative that is a program of first 
choice for schools and students, and is 
recognised by industry as the doorway 
to employment in the industry.’ To 
achieve this, the Construction Industry 
Training Board has partnered with DECD 
to design and implement an endorsed 
Industry Pathway Program.

Since it commenced operations in 2000 
with 6 programs, it has grown to 52 
programs spread across South Australia 
and has established a strong reputation 
for innovation and quality at both a state 
and national level.

D2C is a general introduction to the 
industry for students with a delivery 
focus at Year 11. It now provides 
for a seamless pathway into Year 
12 and the D2C Plus-Certificate III 
pathway program. This provides a 
solid foundation of skill, knowledge and 
experience, which articulates into a 
range of vocational training courses and 
is the gateway for many varied career 
pathways.

D2C and D2C Plus currently had 1,182 
enrolments at the beginning of the 2013 
school year.

Aims of D2C
•	 Increase awareness of the building 

and construction industry as a career 
pathway for young people

•	 Expose participants to industry 
expectations focussing on safety, 
punctuality, teamwork, commitment to 
deadlines and work standards 
 

•	 Provide students with accurate 
information about career opportunities 
and the tools necessary to 
successfully seek work in the industry

•	 Develop basic skills that students can 
take into the industry

•	 Develop and foster a ‘work-ready’ 
attitude

Overview of 2012-13

•	 There are 52 doorways programs 
across urban and regional SA, 
including 5 from the non-government 
sector and 4 RTO.

•	 Nine RTO oversee the program in 
South Australian schools

•	 Construction Skills Queensland (CSQ) 
operates D2C under licence for 
delivery to 25 schools. 

•	 D2C Programs continue to engage 
in live site projects where possible; 
Housing SA retrofits (21 so far), Riding 
for the Disabled stables, 3 bedroom 
transportable homes, Aged care 
homes civil works and play spaces for 
primary schools, to name just a few. 

•	 D2C Learner Guides are supplied 
under licence to interstate users.

•	 The CITB provided submission 
support for the construction of 24 
TTCs purpose built for construction 
training.

•	 Five new Plumbing programs 
introduced under the D2C 
construction pathway program 
at Seaton HS, unley HS, Hallett 
Cove School, St Pauls College and 
Paralowie HS are progressing well 
and will have their first cohort of Plus 
students in 2014

The data for the 2012 school year 
cohort 

•	 804 enrolments in school based 
Certificate I D2C program

•	 633 Completions at Certificate 1 
D2C program

•	 150 enrolments in alternative CITB 
endorsed programs (completion data 
is difficult to obtain as they have a 
policy of flexible enrolment dates)

•	 126 enrolled in the D2C Plus program

•	 48 enrolled into the Training 
Guarantee for SACE Students

•	 27 won a School Based 
Apprenticeship with an employer

•	 20 obtained employment during the 
year in a trade / related industry 

•	 31 discontinued for various reasons

The data for the 2013 school year 
cohort

•	 947 enrolments in school based 
Certificate I D2C program

•	 235 enrolments in the D2C Plus 
program

Looking Forward
•	 The Kapunda Wet Trades program 

will have its first D2CPlus students 
enrolled Semester 1, 2014.

•	 The CITB has provided an Industry 
Placement Subsidy for teachers 
to complete a work placement in 
industry with an employer of choice. 
This is a financial partnership with 
DECD to fund 3 days of a 5 day 
placement to bring some credibility to 
their practice and satisfy new ASQA 
requirements for all teacher/trainers to 
hold ‘recent industry currency’.

•	 The SACE VET In Schools policy is 
fully operational and students are 
the beneficiaries of a construction 
program that can potentially award 
them over 100 Credits toward 
the SACE requirement of 200, an 
excellent outcome.

doorways2construction 
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•	 Work placement continues to be 
difficult in a contracting market. 
CITB has trialled a reduction in work 
placement at entry level in order 
to release opportunities to those 
students undertaking higher level 
training in D2C Plus. This will continue 
until the industry recovers from this 
contraction

•	 The CITB will continue to investigate 
the design and implementation of a 
para-professional doorways program 
to feed students into the increasing 
need for construction/site managers

Conclusion
D2C has been an enduring success 
story for the construction industry, the 
CITB, which initiated the program on 
the industry’s behalf, the SA Education 
system and its client base.

Many Group Training Organisations 
consider D2C as the ‘source of choice’ 
for quality candidates who can be 
productive quickly. 

A culture of best practice within the D2C 
stakeholder community supports the 
continuing success of the program.

  d2c students and teacher from  
naracoorte High School in front 
of the transportable home they 
built under the supervision of local 
builder Jim Vine.

  Heathfield d2c students building 
playground equipment for a local 
primary school in their new trade 
training centre. 
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Research and Skills 
Development Program
The Board conducts or commissions 
research to inform its decision making, 
policy formulation and advisory functions 
as required under the Act. 

The use of both external and internal 
research is a key input to CITB work.  
Sharing this research with industry 
representatives assists them to provide 
well-founded expert advice and insights 
on issues that in turn provides a solid 
base for shaping CITB programs 
through our formal consultative 
processes including the Sector Advisory 
Committees.

Major sources of data and expert advice 
are as follows:

•	 Externally sourced quantitative and 
qualitative data to monitor 

•	 construction industry trends 

•	 recent research on vocational 
education and training

•	 emerging initiatives

•	 Analysis of CITB’s own Training and 
Workforce database, TALAS and other 
data on the construction industry.

•	 Formally-commissioned research:

•	 the annual post training evaluation 
survey of CITB funded training

•	 the CITB awareness survey  

•	 the evaluation of Doorways2 
Construction (D2C) including 
School-Based Apprenticeships 
(SBAs).

•	 Consultation with people in the 
building and construction industry 
through CITB forums and meetings.

Information from all sources informs 
decision-making, development of the 
Annual Training Plan, the annual budget, 
and ongoing monitoring and review of 
policy and programs. The use of internal 
data is a development area and has led 
to the decision to expand the CITB field 
officer capacity.

research, Skills development 
and innovation program

The interaction between the industry 
training support provided by CITB 
programs and the national VET 
system is an ongoing matter of focus.  
Having a voice on issues arising to 
ensure industry training needs are met 
necessitates a strategic and focussed 
interaction with an endlessly changing 
complex system.

Innovation Program

Aboriginal Workforce development 
initiative (AWdi)

•	 The first year as an ongoing Program 
saw development of an array of 
initiatives to respond to needs with a 
focus on workforce development.

•	 Contact with all aboriginal CITB 
eligible workers and their employers 
throughout the state via the use of the 
TALAS database has enabled offers of 
advice and support and development 
of further initiatives to address needs 
as identified. 

•	 A Certificate II Construction 
Maintenance for remote 
communities’ qualification was 
developed. 

•	 The program focusses on a 
mentoring approach to optimise 
engagement and maintain 
employment outcomes.  

Building information Modelling (BiM)

•	 The innovative A practical introductory 
guide to Building Information 
Modelling 2-day course is now part of 
mainstream current worker offerings.  
This course is available to South 
Australian Construction workers 
supported by CITB.  

•	 A one-day Introductory course 
delivered in 2 hour modules was 
developed in response to industry 
need on the new Royal Adelaide 
Hospital site.  

•	 There are a number of projects in 
South Australia using BIM.  
 

Heritage trades Skills program 
(HtSp)

•	 The traditional Stonemasonry and 
Lath and Plaster courses are now 
part of the mainstream Current 
Worker program.  A course has been 
delivered at Innes National Park.

•	 Training delivery of specialist heritage 
trade skills was trialled in programs 
conducted on heritage buildings 
around the state with 45 CITB 
participants.  John Knox Church, 
Morphett Vale, Cantara Homestead in 
the Coorong, and the Morgan Railway 
Station, Morgan. Projects were jointly 
conducted with training company 
ABCT and either the property owner, 
DEWNR or the district Council.

•	 All participants successfully 
completed the courses and feedback 
was excellent.   The courses covered 
development in the theoretical and 
practical aspects of three or more 
trade areas:  Heritage Stonemasonry, 
Solid Rendering, Lime Technology, 
Blacksmithing Techniques, Timber 
Conservation, Salt Damp Remediation 
and/or Paint Remediation.

•	 Materials are now in development for 
a suite of traditional heritage trades 
training and are being progressively 
moved to Current Worker short 
courses.

•	 With the introduction to traditional 
heritage trade skills now delivered 
to 200 construction workers, a 
substantial capability has been 
generated.  

•	 The issuing of a CITB Certificate 
of completion remains an interim 
measure in the absence of Australian 
qualifications for these trade areas. 
The project is moving to focus on 
a qualifications framework so that 
appropriate recognition can be 
accorded that is consistent with 
international standards. 
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Wise guys

•	 Wise Guys is a CITB initiative to turn 
tradies into trainers.

•	 Given the extended period of industry 
contraction there has not been a need 
for a new course in the 2012-13 year.

Advisory Function

Sector Standing committees
CITB Sector Advisory Committees are 
specified in the Act.  They form a crucial 
element of the Board’s consultative 
framework that supports policy 
development.

The Sector Committees met individually 
and on occasion together as a 
combined sectors forum throughout 
the year to provide advice and input 
to general policy development, the 
formulation of the ATP, direct industry 
intelligence, training package matters, 
and innovations projects and needs.

Following meetings of each of the 
Sector Committees, the Joint Sector 
Advisory Committee met to combine the 
views for forwarding to the Board via the 
Training Policy Committee.

Construction Industry  
Advisory Body

Advisory Function
The Act prescribes an advisory 
function to the Ministers, both State 
and Commonwealth. With the latter 
function now redundant due to changed 
circumstances, in contemporary 
practice this translates to interaction with 
a number of government departments, 
primarily DFEEST, and government 
agencies such as the Training and Skills 
Commission.

An interim situation following termination 
of the Industry Skills Board (ISB) function 
remained for a second year following 
the Minister’s withdrawal of the Funding 
Deed as of 30 June 2011.  The scope 
of work is not yet adequately formalised.  
Of note is that the remaining 8 ISBs in 
SA had their Funding Deeds terminated 
as of 30 June 2013.

The Industry Advisory Arrangements 
Review being conducted by the Training 
and Skills Commission has led to 
affirmation of the value of the industry 
advisory function to the operation of the 
Commission.

The IAB function makes extensive use of 
the Consultative / Advisory Committee 
framework to support its activities.

liaison Function
The Act also prescribes a liaison function 
that operates through meetings of:

•	 state advisory networks across 
industries

•	 national advisory and industry fund 
networks in building and construction

•	 other agencies and institutions as 
required.

The liaison function provides a valuable 
opportunity to share information and 
work to mutual benefit.  The scope for 
sharing common agendas has been 
increasingly constrained as state and 
territory governments have wound back 
state advisory bodies with cessation of 
funding in most states, including SA, by 
30 June 2013.  With widespread funding 
terminations the total number of industry 
advisory bodies operating nationally has 
contracted sharply.

Construction work at  
Port Lincoln Hospital 
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 Objectives

  To ensure the Board and 
the Fund are administered 
in accordance with the CITF 
Act (1993) and other relevant 
legislation, principles and 
standards

  To ensure compliance with the 
statutory requirement to pay the 
CITF levy

  To monitor and drive the 
performance of the Fund

  To maximise the effective use  
of the Fund

  To achieve an unqualified audit 
report

  To provide good governance and 
financial stewardship to  
the Board

governance, Finance and 
Administration

Strategies
•	 To maximise organisational efficiency 

through the continued refinement of 
business processes and systematic 
internal review

•	 Maximise compliance with the 
requirements to pay the CITF levy 
through:

•	 Random and targeted auditing

•	 Investigation, data analysis and use 
of technology

•	 Education & communication

•	 Partnership with Industry, local and 
state governments and planning 
authorities

•	 Regular and dynamic reporting, risk 
evaluation and assessment

•	 Nimble and adaptable IT systems and 
processes to improve service delivery 
to levy payers and funding recipients

•	 Maintain superior product and industry 
knowledge, environmental awareness, 
industry networks and promote brand 
awareness

•	 Prudent financial management 
program in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the 
Department of Treasury & Finance 
guidance

•	 Adoption of good governance 
principles, risk evaluation and 
management, ethical and responsible 
decision making

Outcomes
•	 Annual approval of Training Plan in 

accordance with the Act

•	 Compliance by the industry to the 
satisfaction of the Board

•	 Business units out  perform budget 
expectations

•	 Effective use of the fund to support 
training in the industry

•	 Submission of the Annual Report in 
accordance with the Act

•	 unqualified audit opinion by Auditor 
General

•	 Total cost of this function not to 
exceed 11% of total expenditure

Implementation
•	 The CEO is responsible for ensuring 

the Board and Fund are administered 
in accordance with the Act and for 
effective use of the Fund.

•	 The Manager Finance and Business 
Services is responsible to ensure 
collection of levies is in accordance 
with the requirements of the Act.

•	 Manager Training Programs executes 
monitoring of the effectiveness of 
CITB funded training programs 
through a program of desk top and 
site-visit audits.

•	 Manager Research & Skills 
Development conducts a series of 
surveys that form part of our validation 
of training effectiveness.

•	 Monitoring and adoption of corporate 
governance principles

•	 Regular reviews of the Risk 
Management Plan are undertaken by 
management under the oversight of 
the Finance and Audit Committee in 
accordance with the latest standards. 

•	 Internal policies and procedures are 
regularly reviewed for their currency 
and efficacy to ensure the most 
effective use of CITB resources.

•	 Regular reports in relation to financial 
performance against budget, 
compliance, and training outcomes 
are provided to the Board. This 
information is communicated to 
stakeholders through scheduled 
sector committee meetings and the 
CITB website.
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•	 A continuing strong focus on IT 
systems to improve the efficiency of 
levy collections and the delivery of 
training support to the industry.

•	 Eligibility of those accessing the fund is 
assessed on fair and impartial criteria.

•	 Dedicated compliance team tracking 
non-compliance with Levy payments.

•	 An annual audit program is conducted 
through two separate external firms, 
which involves the auditing of a 
number of random and targeted 
projects to ensure that the CITF levy is 
paid in accordance with the Act. 

•	 Systematic review of all projects with 
a project value in excess of $200,000 
to ascertain if a refund is due to the 
project owner or if the project owner 
owes an additional levy amount. 
These activities result in adjustments 
in the form of refunds or the collection 
of additional levies depending on 
whether the project completes either 
over or under the original estimate.

  Performance Outcomes 
2012-13

   Approval of FY2013-14 Annual 
Training Plan.

   60% of audited projects 
complied in entirety with 
obligations under the act.  The 
balance exhibited non-material 
compliance anomalies.

   Expenditure of fund 
equitably disbursed across 
sectors, course categories, 
demographics and trades.

   As required under the Act 
the financial statements of 
the Board have been audited 
by the Auditor-General of 
South Australia. The auditor’s 
unqualified audit opinion is 
included with the 2012-13 
financial statements.

   FY2012 Annual Report 
submitted in accordance with 
the Act.

   The total cost of this program 
for the 2012-13 financial year 
was $1.58M, or 9.7% of actual 
expenditure ($16.28M). 

Construction work is 
underway on the new 
River Torrens footbridge.
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Chart N Budget V Actual 
Expenditure 2012-13 Training 
Programs ($M)
Chart N shows that in 2012-13, 
both the Current Worker and the 
Apprentice Trainee Support programs 
underachieved against budget targets 
by 31% and 7% respectively. The 
current worker variance is the most 
noteworthy; reflecting a significant 
reduction in funded training activity  
due to weak industry conditions in  
some sectors and a combination of  
the following factors: 

•	 The SA Government’s Skills for All 
program may have had some impact 

•	 Training formerly conducted under 
Productivity Places Program

•	 White Card training

•	 Board implemented capping 
restrictions of $2,000 per person per 
year and capped a number of high 
cost transport related courses

Chart N1 illustrates activity in Innovation 
and the Contingency program 
developed to absorb cost overruns 
or unanticipated training demand.  
Reflective of industry activity, both of 
these programs are significantly under 
subscribed.

Chart O Budget V Actual 
Expenditure 2012-13
Chart O shows expenditure on cost 
centres facilitating and supporting 
the functions of the Board. Prudent 
management of expenditure on these 
elements of CITB activity totalled 
$2.71M against a budget target of 
$2.93M, representing a positive  
variation of 7.5%. 

governance, Finance and Administration

cHArt o: BuDGET V ACTuAL ExPENDITuRE OTHER PROGRAMS 2012-13
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Chart P1(levy all transactions), 
P2 (training transactions) and 
Chart Q Administration Expense 
as % of Total Expenditure
Charts P1 and P2 are measures of 
administrative transactions rather than 
measures of external construction 
or training activity. For example, the 
levy transaction count includes levy 
collections as well as refunds, revisions 
and other adjustments.

Chart P2 displays a downward shift in 
training payment transactions reflecting 
(in line with industry decline), a decrease 
in training demand most noticeably 
in the On Job stream as apprentices 
complete their apprenticeships early.

Chart Q shows the total administrative 
expense as a proportion of total 
expenditure.  A significant reduction 
in total training expenditure has led 
to this metric increase to 9.7%. Total 
administrative expenses have remained 
stable and in line with the previous year 
($1.58M).
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Each committee has a Board member 
as an ‘independent non-voting’ Chair. 
Board members are allocated Sectors 
in which they have no direct interest or 
involvement. 

Two Standing Committees of the Board 
have the following functions:

•	 TPC – develops policies associated 
with the use of CITB resources in 
order to optimise the outcomes 
required to support Board training 
objectives. Both JSAC and ELTRC 
make recommendations to TPC 
which effectively shapes the policy 
framework and other key decisions 
made by the Board. 

•	 FAC – deals with revenue items, 
accountability, compliance 
management and reporting. It makes 
recommendations to the Board in 
respect of policies governing the 
collection of revenue, prudential 
management of the Fund and global 
allocation of resources.

The advice and contribution of industry 
is critical to the quality of CITB decision 
making.

•	 Input from each of the sector 
committees is collated and 
considered by the JSAC which is 
comprised of two representatives 
from each of the Sector Committees. 
The housing, commercial and civil 

sector committees are designated 
in the Act. A fourth committee, 
Specialist Services, covers 
mechanical contractors, plumbing 
and electrical representatives and has 
been convened to ensure effective 
coverage across the industry.

•	 The ELTRC makes recommendations 
to the TPC regarding policy issues to 
enhance training to new entrants, with 
direct oversight of D2C and D2C Plus.

•	 Sector Committee input is the 
principal mechanism through which 
the Annual Training Plan is shaped 
and developed each year.

committee reporting Structure 2012-13

Committee structure

BoArd

trAining policy 
(tpc)

reMunerAtion

FinAnce & Audit 
(FAc)

HouSing coMMerciAl ciVil SpeciAliSt  
SerViceS

elt reFerence  
coMMittee 

 (eltrc)

Joint Sector  
AdViSory coMMittee  

(JSAc)

Working pArtieS 
AS reQuired
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citB Staffing Structure as at 30 June 2013 

CHIEF ExECuTIVE OFFICER 
SteVe lArkinS

MANAGER FINANCE  
& BuSINESS SERVICES 

AdAM WArcHol

ACCOuNTANT 
peter doyle

JAVA DEVELOPMENT 
ANALYST 

elAngo peruMAl

FIELD SuPERVISOR 
MArk goSden

FIELD SuPERVISOR 
ABORIGINAL  

WORKFORCE INITIATIVE 
grAHAM roWe

CuRRICuLuM 
MANAGER CITB/DECD 

DOORWAYS2CONSTRuCTION 
SteVe Birnie

MANAGER TRAINING  
PROGRAMS  

len WArren

ExEcutivE AssistAnt 
nolA Speer

CLAIMS OFFICER 
kirSty riSMondo

CLAIMS OFFICER 
kAtJA guBBinS

CLAIMS OFFICER 
(PART TIME) 
JuliAnne 
yeoWArd

CLAIMS OFFICER 
(PART TIME) 

SArAH SlAter

REcEptionist 
HeAtHer BurnS

COORDINATOR 
TRAINING 

PROGRAMS 
liSA FAgAn

FINANCE OFFICER   
(PART TIME) 

reBeccA pope

LEVY & COMPLIANCE 
OFFICER 

rutH ten BenSel

FINANCE OFFICER 
MArlene FotiA

FINANCE OFFICER   
(PART TIME) 

cHeryl SkeWeS

COMPLIANCE  
CONSuLTANT 

MArk WilliAMS

SKILLS RESEARCH 
SuPPORT OFFICER 

BeV gregory

MANAGER RESEARCH & 
SKILLS DEVELOPMENT, EO 
CONSTRuCTION INDuSTRY 

ADVISORY BODY 
 Julie kernick

PROGRAM SuPPORT 
Jo HerrAMAn
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Board Meetings
The Board of the CITB met on 10 scheduled occasions during 
2012-13. In addition two special meetings were convened in 
July 2012 to resolve approval of the 2012-13 Annual Training 
Plan. These are addressed separately in the table below.

Board Attendance  
record

eligible 
Meetings 

Meetings 
Attended

Mary Marsland 10 10

Rob Stewart 10 7

Deputy: Susan Pavan 4 0

Martin O’Malley 10 10

Deputy: Christine Chevalier 1 0

Steve Hall 10 9

Deputy: Paul Worthington 2 1

Susan Frazer 10 7

Deputy: Julie Nemeth 4 2

John Laird 10 7

Deputy: Sian Rees (to 19/12/12) 2 0

Deputy: Lisa Smith (from 20/12/12) 0 0

Christine Harrison 10 8

Deputy: Marcus d’Assumpcao 3 1

Romana Hutchinson 10 8

Deputy: Rosemary Markotic 3 1

Sandra Jaffer 10 9

Deputy: Taryn Alderdice 2 1

Douglas Buchanan 10 8

Deputy: Robert Donnelly 3 1

Gary Henderson 10 4

Deputy: Kristen Rogers 5 1

Special meetings x 2

Mary Marsland 2 2

Rob Stewart 2 2

Steve Hall 2 2

Sue Frazer 2 0

Deputy: Julie Nemeth 2 2

Christine Harrison 2 2

Martin O’Malley 2 2

Nathan Paine 1 1

Lorraine Baff 1 1

Sandra Jaffer 1 1

Douglas Buchanan 1 0

Robert Donnelly 1 1

Gary Henderson 1 1

 

Non-attendance by a Deputy may reflect the Board’s formal 
policy that requires a written apology from the Member 
and provision of a full briefing to their Deputy prior to the 
meeting. This policy operates to ensure the Board fulfils 
its responsibilities to the Deputy in preparing him or her for 
informed and effective involvement in the meeting. Even 
though a Deputy is indicated as being eligible, he or she may 
not always be able to attend a meeting. All Members and 
Deputies were eligible to attend Board Strategic Planning.

Regional Meetings
A regional meeting was held in October 2012 at Whyalla. 
Regional visits serve two purposes. They allow Board 
members to become familiar with issues specific to the region 
being visited, and acquaint local people who have an interest in 
the construction industry with CITB activities. 

Annual Training Plan Approval
The CITF Act, Section 32, requires the Board to submit its 
Annual Training Plan (ATP) for the subsequent financial year to 
the Minister not later than 31 May each year.

2012-13
The 2012-13 ATP was submitted in accordance with the Act. 
On 2 July 2013 the Board received advice that the Minister 
had withheld approval of the ATP. Following legal advice, the 
Board suspended trading. The Minister subsequently approved 
a revised ATP on 16 July 2012. Trading resumed immediately. 

2013-14
The CITB 2013-14 ATP was prepared in accordance with 
Section 32 of the Act and submitted to the Minister, Hon Grace 
Portolesi, MP on 16 May 2013. It was subsequently approved 
on 30 June 2013.

Authorisations
Authorised officers are appointed in accordance with Section 
33 of the Act. The CEO, Steve Larkins, Manager Finance 
and Business Services, Adam Warchol and Mark Williams 
of Mark Williams Risk Management Pty Ltd retained their 
appointments. Corey McGowan of H.L.B. Mann Judd (S.A.) 
Pty. Ltd and Jim Gouskos of Moore Stephens retained their 
respective appointments. 

Delegations 
The Board maintains a schedule of financial delegations that 
are reviewed annually.

Other delegations may be made periodically against specific 
actions or activities on an ‘as required’ basis.

At a special meeting of the Board on 9 July 2012 the Board 
approved the following:

corporate governance
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“That the Board delegate authority to the Working Party 
comprising Rob Stewart, Steve Hall, Martin O’Malley and  
Mary Marsland to act as it sees fit including;

•	 Submission of correspondence and resubmission of the 
ATP;

•	 Meeting with the Minister / seek an audience with the 
Premier in respect of the policy debate,

•	 The authorisation of legal action and other courses of action 
as may be required to achieve resolution.”

On 24 May 2012 the Board had delegated a review of the 
Sector and Advisory Committees to be led by Martin O’Malley 
and the Management team. This delegation has persisted 
through the current ATP year.

On 26 July 2012 the Board delegated oversight of an ATP 
Working Party to the Chair and CEO. 

On 26 October 2012 the Board delegated the oversight of 
the ATP review to the Training Policy Committee with a report 
required by 22 November 2012. 

Conflicts of Interest – Disclosure by Board Members
During the term of this report, a Register of Interests was 
maintained whereby members record in advance any interests 
which may conflict with those of CITB in certain circumstances. 
In general terms, the CITB policy framework is sufficiently 
robust as to ameliorate potential conflicts of interest. In the 
event a situation occurs that may entail a potential conflict of 
interest at a Board meeting, the Member is obliged to declare 
that a conflict of interest exists, then withdraw from further 
discussion and any vote that may be taken on the matter. 

No conflicts of interest other than those recorded in the register 
were declared by Board Members during the 2012-13 year.

Planning Framework
The planning framework of CITB incorporates several internal 
systems including:

•	 Board Strategic Planning Forum and the CITB Strategic Plan

•	 Business Planning and the ATP (approved by the Minister)

•	 Risk Management Plan (subject to periodic review and 
oversight by the Finance & Audit Committee)

•	 Staff Performance Management System (“by exception” 
reporting)

•	 Information Management/E-business systems and 
procedures

•	 A rolling review of policies and procedures (per the 
delegations schedule)

CITB Advisory Committees
under the provisions of the Act the building and construction 
industry is divided into three sectors representing civil, 
commercial, and housing construction. The Board of CITB 
forms sub-committees in each of these areas as well as a 
Specialist Services Committee. These committees meet 
approximately bi-monthly (or as required) and comprise an 
agreed membership of people within the relevant industry 
groups. The current system of sector committee operation  
was established following a major review during 2006-07.  
An internal review is in progress at the time of writing.

Statutory Authority Compliance Reporting 
Requirements

overseas travel
No overseas travel was funded by CITB in 2012-13.

contracts exceeding $4M
CITB did not enter into any contracts in excess of $4M  
within the reporting period, or which extended beyond the 
Financial Year.

Staff employment
CITB is tasked with administering the Construction Industry 
Training Fund Act 1993. However it is not an agency or 
instrumentality of the Crown. CITB staff members are not 
public servants and are employed under either individual 
contracts or the terms of an entity-specific Enterprise 
Agreement.

This does not include the Vocational Program Manager which 
is a DECD position seconded to CITB on terms established 
in a Memorandum of understanding, on a cost-share 
arrangement.

Bargaining Agreement
The Enterprise Agreement is based on the South Australian 
Clerks’ Award and from 1 January 2010 the National 
Employment Standards and Private Sector Clerks Award 
(Commonwealth).

The CITB Enterprise Agreement 2011 was negotiated and 
approved in accordance with s.54 of the Fair Work Act 2009 
to take effect from 7 March 2011 and with a nominal expiry 
date of 31 December 2014. It replaced the previous Enterprise 
Agreement approved by the Industrial Relations Commission 
and confirmed in August 2008.

Public Sector Management Act employment conditions do not 
apply to CITB staff and managers. 
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Board remuneration
Remuneration of Board Members is covered by DPC Circular 
16 issued by The Department of Premier and Cabinet (DPC) 
The CEO, CITB undertook a review commencing July 2012. 
The results of this review were submitted to the Board and 
a submission developed for consideration by the CEO, DPC 
requesting reclassification of the CITB in accordance with the 
policy cited above proposing a new system of remuneration 
to take account of the Board’s circumstances with respect of 
Deputies and meeting commitments. 

The reclassification was subsequently endorsed by CEO, DPC 
and ultimately approved by the Minister for implementation.

Financial performance
The Auditor-General’s unqualified report on the Financial 
Statements of CITB is at page 45 of this document.

Fraud
No incidence of fraud was detected in CITB during 2012-13. 

The Board’s Risk Management Plan has been reviewed and 
updated and provides a framework for ongoing monitoring of 
potential fraud. A system of financial delegations and counter-
signatories applies to all financial transactions.

CITB management and staff collaborate closely with the 
Auditor-General’s staff to monitor and adjust policy settings.

consultants
Consulting services are used primarily in augmenting the 
research capabilities of CITB. Details of consulting services 
engaged are provided in the notes to the Financial Statements. 

Freedom of information
A Freedom of Information (FOI) statement is available on the 
CITB website. There was no FOI requests lodged with CITB 
during the reporting year.          

Finance and Audit committee

Steve Hall (Chair)

Christine Harrison  

Douglas Buchanan  

John Laird  

Sandra Jaffer  

training policy committee

Susan Frazer (Chair)

Gary Henderson 

Martin O’Malley

Rob Stewart

Romana Hutchinson

Board Committees 2012-13

corporate governance

Advisory Committees as at 30 June 2013

Joint Sector Advisory committee 

name nominating Body/group

Martin O’Malley (Chair) CITB

Romana Hutchinson (Co-chair) CITB

Bernie Biggs Housing Sector Committee

Chris Rankin Specialist Committee

David Thompson Commercial Sector Committee

Harry Ennis Commercial Sector Committee

Jason Wilder Specialist Committee

John Hutton Civil Sector Committee

Robert Harding Housing Sector Committee

Stan Robb Civil Sector Committee

civil Sector committee 

name nominating Body/group

John Laird (Chair) CITB

Douglas Buchanan (Co-chair) CITB

Darren Roberts Construction Forestry Mining 
and Energy union

Frank Mateos Australian Workers union

John Hutton Industry Practitioner

Ray Thompson Industry Practitioner

Andrew Haste Local Government Association

Stan Robb Association of Consulting 
Engineers

Terry Wright Australian Asphalt Pavement 
Association

Garry Stewart Civil Contractors Federation SA

Vacant SkillsDMC observer
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commercial Sector committee 

name nominating Body/group

Sandra Jaffer (Chair) CITB

Christine Harrison (Co-chair) CITB

David Thompson Master Builders Association

Harry Ennis Construction, Forestry,  
Mining and Energy union

John Bricher Building Industry Specialist 
Contractors Association

Michael Boyce Air conditioning & Mechanical 
Contractors Association

Keith McAllister Industry Practitioner 

Lorne McClurg Property Council of Australia

Robert Marshall Industry Practitioner

Paul Tyrer Industry Practitioner

Vacant Industry Practitioner

Vacant Industry Practitioner

Housing Sector committee 

name nominating Body/group

Martin O’Malley (Chair) CITB

Romana Hutchinson (Co-chair) CITB

Aaron Cartledge Construction, Forestry,  
Mining and Energy union

Natalie Cunningham Master Painters Association

Bernie Biggs Building Industry Specialist 
Contractors Assoc. of SA

Keith Jasper Master Builders Association

Neil Jackson Industry Practitioner

Vince Centofanti Industry Practitioner

Robert Harding Housing Industry Association

Vacant Association of Wall &  
Ceiling Industries

Craig Nagel National Association of  
Steel-framed Housing

Terry Walsh urban Development Institute 
of Australia (SA Div)

Specialist Services committee 

name nominating Body/group

Gary Henderson (Chair) CITB

John Laird (Co-chair) CITB

Andrew Clarke Plumbing Industry 
Association

Chris Rankin Air conditioning and 
Mechanical Contractors 
Association

Jason Wilder Communications, Electrical 
and Plumbing union 
(Electrical)

Larry Moore National Electrical 
Contractors Association

Paul Gesti Industry Practitioner

Vacant Industry Practitioner

Ben Cunningham Building Industry Specialist 
Contractor’s Association

Andrew O’Connor Industry Practitioner

Justin Hollitt Industry Practitioner

Richard Lane Industry Practitioner

entry level training reference committee 

name nominating Body/company

Robert Stewart (Chair) CITB Member

Adam Turnbull Scott Salisbury Homes

Louise Johnson / Shamus 
Schutt

SACE Board of South 
Australia

Christopher Rankin Air Conditioning and 
Mechanical Contractors 
Association

Michael Wakefield Trainee and Apprentice 
Placement Service Inc

Paul Klepczynski /  
Simon Heath

Gilles Plains Campus,  
TAFE SA

Tony Baulderstone Bardavcol P/L

Tullio Tagliaferri Tagara Group

Tony Curtis Department of Education  
and Child Development 

Vacant Employee Association
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Financial Statements 

Statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013

note 2013 2012

$,000 $,000

income

Industry levies 4 16,335  15,981 

Interest 654  892 

Grants 5 -  55 

Other income 6 199  59 

total income 17,188  16,987 

expenses

Administration expenses

Employee benefits 7 812  793 

Collection agent fees 68  57 

Depreciation and amortisation 8 185  192 

Occupancy 70  66 

Supplies and services 9 446  448 

total Administration expenses 1,581  1,556 

training expenses

Employee benefits 7 743  705 

Promotion 211  195 

Training claims 13,100  17,161 

Depreciation and amortisation 8  169  169 

Occupancy 64  58 

Training delivery 133  296 

Research  43  44 

total training expenses 14,463  18,628 

grant expenses  

Employee benefits 7 149  206 

Depreciation and amortisation 8 34  50 

Occupancy 13  17 

Supplies and services 9 35  42 

total grant expenses 231  315 

total expenses 16,275  20,499 

net result 913 ( 3,512) 

total comprehensive result 913 ( 3,512) 
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Statement of Financial position
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013

note 2013 2012

$,000 $,000

current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 1,789  942 

Receivables 13 988  479 

Other financial assets 14 12,562  13,060 

total current Assets 15,339  14,481 

non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 16 221  276 

Intangible assets 17 288  593 

total non-current Assets 509  869 

total Assets 15,848  15,350 

Current Liabilities

Payables 18 1,015  1,503 

Employee benefits 19 179  149 

total current liabilities 1,194  1,652 

non-current liabilities

Payables 18 21  17 

Employee benefits 19 194  155 

total non-current liabilities 215  172 

total liabilities 1,409  1,824 

net Assets 14,439  13,526 

Reserves 13,034  10,562 

Retained earnings 1,405 2,964

total equity 14,439  13,526 

unrecognised contractual commitments 21

Contingent assets and liabilities 22
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Statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013

prudential reserve retained earnings total

$,000 $,000 $,000

Balance at 30 June 2011  14,751  2,287  17,038 

Total comprehensive result 2011-2012  - ( 3,512) ( 3,512) 

Transfer from prudential reserve ( 4,189)  4,189  - 

Balance at 30 June 2012  10,562  2,964  13,526 

Total comprehensive result 2012-2013  - 913 913

Transfer to prudential reserve 2,472 (2,472)  - 

Balance at 30 June 2013 13,034  1,405 14,439 

Financial Statements 
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Statement of cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JuNE 2013

note 2013 2012

$,000 $,000

cash flows from operating Activities

cash inflows

Receipts from industry training levies 15,893  14,593 

Interest 627  1,011 

GST recovered from the ATO 144  170 

Other receipts 171  181 

cash generated from operations 16,835  15,955 

cash outflows

Employee benefits ( 1,635) ( 1,613) 

Training expenditure (13,628) ( 17,381) 

GST paid to the ATO (13) ( 17) 

Other payments (1,181) ( 1,738) 

cash used in operations (16,457) ( 20,749) 

net cash used in operating activities 23(b) 378 ( 4,794) 

cash flows from investing Activities

cash inflows

Proceeds from term deposits 14,806  46,945 

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 2  56 

cash generated from investing activities 14,808  47,001 

cash outflows

Purchase of investments (14,308) ( 41,933) 

Payment for plant and equipment ( 31) ( 147) 

cash used in investing activities (14,339) ( 42,080) 

net cash provided by / (used in) investing Activities 469  4,921 

net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  847  127 

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  942  815 

cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 23(a)  1,789  942 
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1 Objectives of the CITB
  The Construction Industry Training Board (Board) is 

established under the Construction Industry Training 
Fund Act 1993 (CITF Act).

 The Board’s responsibilities include:

•	 management and administration of the Construction 
Industry Training Fund and the South Australian 
Industry Training Advisory Body;

•	 to act as a principal adviser to the Minister for 
Employment, Higher Education and Skills and the 
Minister for Tertiary Education, Skills, Science and 
Research for the Commonwealth on training related 
matters for the Building and Construction Industry in 
South Australia;

•	 preparation of training plans;

•	 co-ordination of training, review and evaluation of 
employment related training programs.

  The Fund collects revenue by way of a levy of 0.25 
percent of the value of building and construction work 
over $15,000.00. This revenue is invested back into the 
industry in the form of expenditure on training.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 a) Basis of accounting

The Board has prepared these financial statements 
in compliance with section 23 of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1987 (PFAA).

The financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements. The accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with relevant Australian 
Accounting Standards and comply with Treasurer’s 
Instructions and Accounting Policy Statements 
promulgated under the provision of the PFAA, 
and the requirements of the Construction Industry 
Training Fund Act 1993.

The Board has applied Australian Accounting 
Standards that are applicable to not-for-profit 
entities, as the Board is a not-for-profit entity.

The Australian accounting standards and 
interpretations that have recently been issued or 
amended but are not yet effective, have not been 
adopted by the Board for the period ending 30 June 
2013. The Board has assessed the impact of the 
new and amended standards and interpretations, 
and considers there will be no impact on the 
accounting policies or the financial statements. 

The Construction Industry Training Board’s 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Financial Position, and Statement of Changes in 
Equity have been prepared on an accrual basis and 
are in accordance with historical cost convention.

The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared on 
a cash basis.

The financial statements have been prepared on a 
twelve month operating cycle and are presented in 
Australian currency.

 b)  comparative figures

   The presentation and classification of items in 
the financial statements are consistent with prior 
periods except where a specific Accounting Policy 
Statement or Australian Accounting Standard have 
required a change.

 c)  rounding

   All amounts in the financial statements have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

 d)  taxation

   The Board is exempt from Income Tax in terms of 
subsection 23(d) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1936, as amended. The Board is liable for Payroll 
Tax, Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services 
Tax (GST).

   Income, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST except where the amount of 
GST incurred by the Board as a purchaser is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. 
Receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of GST included.

 e) income and expenses

   Income and expense are recognised in the Board’s 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when and 
only when it is probable the flow of economic benefit 
to or from the entity will occur and can be reliably 
measured.

   Industry levies are recognised as income when 
the Board obtains control of the levies. Control is 
normally obtained upon their receipt by the Board  
or its collection agents.

   Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues.

   Grant monies for specific projects are recognised 
as revenue when the Board obtains control over 
the asset. Control over these revenues is normally 
obtained upon receipt.

notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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   Income from the disposal of non-current assets is 
recognised when control of the asset has passed to 
the buyer and is determined by comparing proceeds 
with carrying amount.

 f)   current and non-current classification

   Assets and liabilities are characterised as current 
or non-current in nature. The Board has a clearly 
defined operating cycle of twelve months. Assets 
that are sold, consumed or realised as part of the 
normal operating cycle even when they are not 
expected to be realised within twelve months after 
the reporting date have been classified as current 
assets or current liabilities. All other assets and 
liabilities are classified as non-current.

   Where asset and liability line items combine 
amounts expected to be realised within twelve 
months and more than twelve months, the Board 
has separately disclosed the amounts expected 
to be recovered or settled after more than twelve 
months.

 g)  cash and cash equivalents

   Cash and cash equivalents recorded in the 
Statement of Cash Flows includes cash on hand, 
cash at bank and deposits held at call. Cash is 
measured at nominal value.

 h) receivables

   Receivables in respect of accrued levy revenue and 
debtors are due for settlement within 30 days and 
are recorded at their recoverable amount. At the end 
of each reporting period the receivable balances are 
reviewed and a provision is raised in respect of any 
balance where recovery is considered doubtful.

   Accrued levy income includes all amounts held by 
collection agents at balance date.

 i)  other financial assets

   Other Financial Assets comprise term deposits held 
to maturity for periods of one month and greater. 
The Board measures financial assets at historical 
cost.

   Interest revenue is brought to account on an accrual 
basis.

 j)  non-current asset acquisition and recognition

   Assets are recorded at cost plus any incidental cost 
involved in the acquisition. The Board capitalises 
all non-current assets with a value of one thousand 
dollars ($1,000) or more.

 k)  impairment

    All non-current tangible and intangible assets are 
tested for indication of impairment at each reporting 
date. Where there is an indication of impairment, 
the recoverable amount is estimated. An amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment 
loss.

   Impairment is generally limited to where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated or where the 
replacement cost is falling.

 l)   depreciation and amortisation of non-current  
assets

   All non-current assets, having a limited useful life, 
are systematically depreciated/amortised over 
their useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their service potential. Amortisation 
is used in relation to intangible assets such as 
software, while depreciation is applied to physical 
assets such as property, plant and equipment.

   Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 
is calculated on a straight-line basis for each class 
of depreciable asset so as to write off the cost of the 
asset over its expected useful life.

   The depreciation and amortisation rates used for 
each class of depreciable asset are set out as 
follows: -

  

Furniture and fittings 20 percent

Computer equipment 25 percent

Office machines 20 percent

Motor vehicles 15 percent

Leasehold Improvements 35 percent

Computer Software 25 percent

 m)  payables

   Payables include creditors, accrued expenses and 
employment on-costs.

   Creditors represent the amounts owing for goods 
and services received prior to the end of the 
reporting period that are unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period.

   Accrued expenses represent goods and services 
provided by other parties during the period that are 
unpaid at the end of the reporting period and where 
an invoice has not been received at the end of the 
reporting period.
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   Employment on-costs include superannuation 
contributions, payroll tax and workers compensation 
premiums with respect to outstanding liabilities for 
salaries and wages, long service leave and annual 
leave.

   Training expenses are recognised as an expense 
in the financial year that the expense is incurred. 
The balance of training expenses incurred and not 
paid at the end of the financial year is included as 
Accrued Training Expenses.

   The paid parental leave scheme payable represents 
amounts which the Board has received from the 
Commonwealth Government to forward onto 
eligible employees via the Board’s standard payroll 
processes. That is, the Board is acting as a conduit 
through which the payment to eligible employees is 
made on behalf of the Family Assistance Office.

 n)  employee benefits

   Employee benefits comprise entitlements for 
salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and 
long service leave. Provision has been made in the 
Financial Statements, where stated, for the Board’s 
liability for employee benefits arising from services 
rendered by employees to balance date. Long-term 
employee benefits are measured at present value 
and short-term employee benefits are measured 
at nominal values. Payroll tax, superannuation and 
workers’ compensation insurance premiums are 
classified as payables.

  Salaries and wages
   Liability for salaries and wages are measured as the 

amount unpaid at reporting date at remuneration 
rates current at reporting date.

  Annual leave
   Provision has been made for the unused 

component of annual leave at balance date. The 
provision has been calculated at nominal amounts 
based on projected salary rates. Related on-costs 
are reported as payables.

  Sick leave
   under an Enterprise Bargaining Agreement taking 

effect from 7 March 2011, employees who are 
party to the Agreement and have between 2 and 5 
years of service are entitled to accrue a maximum 
of twenty five percent (25%) of their Sick Leave 
Entitlement. If they have more than 5 years of 
service they are entitled to accrue a maximum of 
thirty percent (30%) of their Sick Leave Entitlement.

  

  Long service leave
   The liability for long service leave is measured as the 

present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period using the 
projected unit credit method.

   The estimated liability for long service leave is 
based on actuarial assumptions over expected 
future salary and wage levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. These 
assumptions are based on employee data over SA 
Government entities. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the end of 
the reporting period on government bonds with 
durations that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

  Superannuation
   The Board has contributed nine percent of the 

employees’ base salary into their prescribed 
superannuation fund. This amount represents 
the Board’s full liability for the year. The liability for 
superannuation is included in employment on-costs.

 o) remuneration of employees

   In accordance with the Accounting Policy 
Framework II General Purpose Financial Statements 
Framework, the Board discloses all employees who 
receive remuneration equal to or greater than the 
base executive remuneration level.

 p) leases

   The Board leases premises for its administrative and 
operating activities. The lease is classified as a non-
cancellable operating lease and lease payments are 
included as expenditure in equal instalments over 
the accounting periods covered by the respective 
lease term.

 q)  insurance

   The Board has arranged through its brokers to 
insure all major risks of the Board. The excess 
payable under policies varies depending on each 
class of insurance held.

 r)  prudential reserve

   The Board has provided for a reserve to meet all 
extant obligations and effect an orderly wind-up 
in the event that the CITF Act is repealed, or the 
Fund is to be otherwise wound up, or some other 
circumstance impacts on the CITB’s ability to collect 
the CITF Levy.
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3  Financial Risk Management
  The Board is exposed to a variety of financial risks, credit 

risk and liquidity risk.

  The Board has non-interest bearing assets (cash on 
hand and receivables) and liabilities (payables) and 
interest bearing assets (cash and cash equivalents and 
investments).

 The Board has no significant concentration of credit risk.

  Investments are in the form of term deposits with 
approved banking institutions.

  In relation to liquidity/funding risk, the continued 
existence of the Board in its present form, is dependent 
on Government policy.

4 Industry Levies 

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Housing sector 6,140 5,830 

Commercial sector 6,879 7,490

Civil sector 3,316 2,661

total 16,335  15,981 

5  Grants 

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Industry skills board -  55 

total -  55 

6  Other Income 

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Sale of publications 70  55

Sundry revenue 129 4 

total 199  59
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7  Employee Benefits 

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Salaries and wages  1,315  1,338 

Annual leave  103  95 

Employment on-costs-superannuation  154  143 

Employment on-costs-other  84  88 

Board fees  48  40 

total  1,704  1,704 

remuneration of employees 

The number of employees whose total remuneration was within the following bands: 

2013 2012

Number of Employees Number of Employees

$134,000-$167,999* - -

$168,000-$177,999 - 1 

$178,000-$187,999 1 -

total 1 1

*This band has been included for the purpose of reporting comparative figures based on the executive base level 
remuneration rate for 2011-12.

The table includes all employees who received remuneration equal to or greater than the base executive remuneration level 
during the year. Remuneration of employees reflects all costs of employment including salaries and wages, superannuation  
contributions, fringe benefits tax and any salary sacrifice benefits. The total remuneration for these employees was 
$180,000 ($175,000). 

remuneration of directors 

Total income received, or due and receivable during the financial year by Directors was $48,000 ($40,000). 
This income included superannuation $2,500 ($2,000) 

2013 2012

Number of Directors Number of Directors

$0-$9,999* 12 10

$10,000-$19,999 1 1

total 13 11

* In accordance with the Premier and Cabinet Circular No. 016, government employees (Christine Harrison) did not receive 
any remuneration for board/committee duties during the financial year.
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8 Depreciation and Amortisation
  The aggregate amounts of depreciation expensed during the reporting period for each class of depreciable asset are as 

follows:

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Furniture and fittings 8  7 

Computer equipment  21  29 

Computer software  312  320 

Office machines  8  8 

Motor vehicles  36  35 

Leasehold improvements  3  12 

total 388  411 

9 Supplies and Services

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Telecommunication and IT expenses 124  107 

Legal costs  26  21 

Insurances  18  18 

Consultancy and professional services  133  116 

General administration and consumables  142  149 

Other  38  79 

total  481  490 

10 Transactions With South Australian Government
 There have been no transactions with the South Australian Government greater than $100,000.

11  Auditor’s Remuneration

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Audit fees paid to the Auditor-General’s Department relating to the  
audit of financial statements

 36  35 

No other services were provided by the Auditor-General’s Department.

55



12  Cash and Cash Equivalents

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Cash at bank  284  164 

Bank deposits at Call  1,505  778 

total  1,789  942 

The cash at bank and deposits at call are interest bearing at average rates at 30 June 2013 2.95% (4.55%)

13  Receivables

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

current

Accrued levy revenue  67  68 

Accrued interest  269  241 

Trade debtors  618  177 

Less allowance for doubtful debts ( 12) ( 54) 

Sundry debtors  5  1 

Prepayments  23  29 

GST receivables  18  17 

total current receivables  988  479 

 interest rate and credit risk  

Receivables are raised for all levies, goods and services, for which payment has not been received. Receivables are 
normally settled within 30 days. Trade receivables, prepayments and accrued revenues are non-interest bearing. Other than 
recognised in the provision for doubtful debts, it is not anticipated that counterparties will fail to discharge their obligations. 
The carrying amount of receivables approximates net fair value due to being received on demand. In addition, there is no 
concentration of risk.

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts (impairment loss)

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the period 54  16 

Increase/(decrease) in the provision  -  38 

Amounts written off (42) -

carrying amount at the end of the period 12  54 

Bad and doubtful debts  

The Board has recognised a bad and doubtful debts expense of $0, ($38,000) in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
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14  Other Financial Assets 

The investments of the Board at balance date comprise: 

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Current investments

Westpac term deposits  7,000  7,500 

ANz term deposits  5,500  5,500 

ANz V2 Plus  62  60 

total current investments  12,562  13,060 

The deposits are held to maturity and have a weighted average interest rate of 4.86% (5.88%).  
The carrying amount is equal to the net fair value.

15 Maturity Analysis Of Financial Assets

2013 carrying Amount < 1 year 1-5 years >5 years

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent  1,789  1,789  -  - 

Receivables (1)  274  274  -  - 

Other financial assets  12,562  12,562  -  - 

total financial assets  14,625  14,625  -  - 

2012 carrying Amount < 1 year 1-5 years >5 years

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent 942 942  -  - 

Receivables (1)  271  271  -  - 

Other financial assets  13,060  13,060  -  - 

total financial assets  14,273  14,273  -  - 

(1) Receivables amounts disclosed here exclude amounts relating to statutory receivables and prepayments.
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16 Property, Plant And Equipment

 a) property, plant and equipment

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Furniture and fittings at cost 45  42 

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 38) ( 31) 

  7  11 

Office machines at cost  58  58 

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 47) ( 39) 

  11   19 

Computer equipment at cost  114  166 

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 78) ( 126) 

  36  40 

Motor vehicles at cost  242  242 

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 76) ( 40) 

  166  202 

Leasehold improvements  385  385 

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 384) ( 381) 

  1  4 

total property, plant and equipment  221  276 

 b)  reconciliation of property, plant and equipment  
The following table shows the movement of plant and equipment during the current reporting period.

 2013
Furniture 
& fittings

office 
machines

computer 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

leasehold 
improvements

total 
2013

 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Gross value at 1 July 2012  42  58  166  242  385  893

Plus: purchase of assets 4 - 19 - - 23

Less: disposal of assets (1) - (71) - - (72)

gross value as at 30 June 2013 45  58 114 242 385 844

Accumulated depreciation at  
1 July 2012

31 39 126 40 381 617

Depreciation charge for the year  8  8 21 36 3 76

Less depreciation on disposal (1) - (69) - - (70)

Accumulated depreciation at  
30 June 2013

38 47 78 76 384 623

net book value as at 30 June 2013 7 11 36 166 1 221
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The following table shows the movement of plant and equipment during the reporting period ended 30 June 2012.

 2012
Furniture 
& fittings

office 
machines

computer 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

leasehold 
improvements

total 
2012

 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Gross value at 1 July 2011 42 58 157 214 384 855

Plus: purchase of assets - - 30 109 1 140

Less: disposal of assets - - (21) (81)  - (102)

gross value as at 30 June 2012 42 58 166 242 385 893

Accumulated depreciation at  
1 July 2011

24 31 115 33 369 572

Depreciation charge for the year 7  8 29 35 12 91

Less depreciation on disposal  -  - (18) (28)  - (46)

Accumulated depreciation at  
30 June 2012

31 39 126 40 381 617

net book value as at 30 June 2012 11 19 40 202 4 276

17 Intangible Assets

 a) intangible Assets:

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Computer software  1,676  1,696 

Less: accumulated amortisation ( 1,395) ( 1,103) 

total computer software  281  593 

Work in progress website development 7 -

total intangible assets 288  593 

b) reconciliation of intangible assets

The following table shows the movement of intangible assets during the current reporting period.

computer software

Gross value at 1 July  1,696  1,689 

Plus purchases 

Less disposals

 - 

(20)

 7 

-

gross value at 30 June  1,676  1,696 

Accumulated amortisation at 1 July 1,103  783 

Amortisation charge for the year  312  320 

Less amortisation on disposal (20) -

Accumulated amortisation at 30 June  1,395  1,103 

net book value as at 30 June  281  593 

Work in progress

Gross value at 1 July - -

Plus purchases 7 -

total net book value as at June 288 593
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18  Payables

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

current:

Trade creditors  140  123 

Accrued expenses  106  88 

Accrued training expenses  737  1,264 

Employment on-costs 32 26 

Paid parental scheme leave payable  -  2 

total current  1,015  1,503 

non current:

Employment on-costs  21  17 

total non current  21  17

interest rate and credit risk 

Creditors and accruals are raised for all amounts billed but not paid. Sundry creditors are normally settled within 30 days. 
Employment on-costs are settled when the respective employee benefits that they relate are discharged. All payables are 
non-interest bearing. The carrying amount of payables approximates net fair value due to the amounts being payable on 
demand.

19 Employee Benefits

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

current:

Annual leave  114  98 

Sick leave provision  39  28 

Accrued salaries and wages  26  23 

 179  149 

non current

Long service leave*  194  155 

 194  155 

The aggregate employee benefits and oncost liability recognised and 
included in the financial statements is as follows:  

Current  211  175 

Non current  215  172 

 426  347 

  *The increase in long service leave is mainly due to a natural increase in the number of years worked by employees since 
the last reporting period.
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  AASB 119 contains the calculation methodology for long service leave liability. This year, an actuarial assessment performed 
by the Department of Treasury and Finance was used to calculate the liability rather than using a short hand measurement 
technique for the calculation of the liability.

AASB 119 requires the use of the yield on long term Commonwealth Government bonds as the discount rate in the 
measurement of the long service leave liability. The yield on long term Commonwealth Government bonds has increased 
from 2012 (3.0%) to 2013 (3.75%).

The net financial effect of the changes in methodology and actuarial assumptions in the current financial year is immaterial. 
The impact on future periods is impracticable to estimate as the long service leave liability is calculated using a number of 
assumptions – a key assumption is the long-term discount rate.

The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance left the salary inflation rate at 4%. As a 
result, there is no net financial effect resulting from changes in the salary inflation rate.

20 Maturity Analysis Of Financial Liabilities

2013 carrying Amount < 1 year 1-5 years >5 years

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Financial liabilities

Payables (1)  943  943  -  - 

total financial liabilities  943  943  -  - 

2012 carrying Amount < 1 year 1-5 years >5 years

$,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

Financial liabilities

Payables (1)  1,436 1,436  -  - 

total financial liabilities  1,436  1,436  -  - 

(1) Payables amounts disclosed here exclude amounts relating to statutory payables.

21 unrecognised Contractual Commitments

 operating lease commitments

  Commitments under non-cancellable leases at the reporting date are not recognised as liabilities in the financial report and 
are payable as follows:

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Not later than one year  128  123 

Later than one year but not later than five years  144  272 

Aggregate expenditure commitments contracted for at balance 
date but not provided for (including gSt)

 272  395 

The lease for office accommodation is a non-cancellable lease. With rental payable monthly in advance.  
Lease payments are subject to an annual increase of four percent.

22 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
 As at reporting date the Board is not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities.
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23 Cash Flow Reconciliation

 a) reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

2013 2012

$,000 $,000

Statement of Financial Position  1,789  942 

Statement of Cash Flows  1,789  942 

b) reconciliation of net Surplus to net cash provided by operating Activities

net result 913 ( 3,512) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  388  411 

Increase / (decrease) in employee benefits  69  91 

(Increase) / decrease in receivables  (481)  243 

(Increase) / decrease in accrued interest  (28)  119 

Increase / (decrease) in provisions - ( 1,569) 

Increase / (decrease) in payables 43 ( 357) 

Increase / (decrease) in training liability ( 526) ( 220) 

net cash (used in) / provided by operating Activities  378 ( 4,794) 

24 Consultants Fees
  The number and dollar amount of consultancies paid/payable (included in supplies and services) that fell within the 

following bands:

no 2013 no 2012

$,000 $,000

Below $10,000  8  36  14  42 

Between $10,000 and $50,000  2  33  3  47 

Above $50,000  -  -  -  - 

total paid/payable to the consultants engaged  10  69  17  89 

25 Related Party Disclosures

 a) directors of the construction industry training Board

   The Directors of the Construction Industry Training Board for the period from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013 were:

  Mary Marsland Chairperson Lorainne Baff / Romana Hutchinson Douglas Buchanan 

  Susan Frazer Steven Hall Christine Harrison

  Gary Henderson Sandra Jaffer Martin O’Malley

  Nathan Paine / John Laird Robert Stewart

  Nathan Paine and Lorraine Baff’s appointments expired 11 July 2012

 b)  transactions with the directors – related entities

   During the year training funds were allocated to associated entities of the Directors of the Construction Industry 
Training Board. Such transactions were within terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on  
similar transactions with other parties.

notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2013

ConstruCtion industry training Board annual rePort 201362



list of acronyms

ABS Australian Bureau of Statistics

ASQA Australian Skills Quality Authority

Atp Annual Training Plan

AtS Apprenticeship and Traineeship Support Program

AWdi  Aboriginal Workforce Development Initiative

Ber Building the Education Revolution

BiM Building Information Modelling

ccF Civil Contractors Federation

citF  Construction Industry Training Fund

cW Current Worker

d2c Doorways2Construction

decd  Department for Education and Child Development

dFeeSt  Department of Further Education, Employment, Science and Technology

dip Development and Innovation Program

dpc  Department of the Premier and Cabinet

eltrc  Entry Level Training Reference Committee

FAc Finance and Audit Committee

gto Group Training Organisation

HS High School

iAB Industry Advisory Body

iSB Industry Skills Board

JSAc Joint Sector Advisory Committee

ncVer  National Centre for Vocational Education Research

nolS  National Occupational Licensing System

oH&S Occupational Health & Safety

rccs Recognition of Current Competencies

rto Registered Training Organisation

SAce South Australian Certificate of Education

SAHMri South Australian Health & Medical Research Institute

SBA School Based Apprenticeship

tAFe Technical and Further Education

tAlAS  Training and Levy Administration System

tc Training Contract or Contract of Training

tpc Training Policy Committee

Vet Vocational Education and Training

WHS Work Health & Safety
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